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On Friday, September 6, 2019—the day Hurricane Dorian made landfall in the 
United States as a Category 1 hurricane—the National Oceanic and Atmospheric 
Administration (NOAA) issued an unsigned statement (Statement) in response to a 
request by the White House then-acting Chief of Staff to your office. The 
Statement rebuked the NOAA National Weather Service’s (NWS’s) Birmingham, 
Alabama, office (NWS Birmingham) for a September 1, 2019, tweet that advised 
that “Alabama will NOT see any impacts from #Dorian” after the White House 
then-acting chief of staff requested a “correction or an explanation or both” of this 
NWS Birmingham tweet. This raised the possibility of political interference in the 
Department’s and NOAA’s handling of events that began on September 1, 2019. 

On September 7, 2019, I issued a memorandum to the acting head of NOAA to 
notify him that our office was going to examine the circumstances surrounding the 
unsigned Statement and instituting a preservation hold on relevant documents.1 

                                                        
1 Inspector General memorandum to Dr. Neil Jacobs. September 7, 2019. Request for Information Pursuant to the 
Inspector General Act of 1978, as Amended. Available online at 
https://www.oig.doc.gov/OIGPublications/Memorandum_from_the_Inspector_General.pdf (accessed April 27, 
2020). 
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There was significant internal and public backlash against the Statement, resulting 
in multiple complaints to our office from the public as well as Congressional 
inquiries. Among the complaints was that the Statement violated NOAA’s 
Scientific Integrity Policy; NOAA has since conducted an inquiry to determine 
whether its Scientific Integrity Policy had been violated. Our work to date, 
reported here, is separate and distinct from NOAA’s work under its Scientific 
Integrity Policy. 

The attached report presents our findings as a detailed chronology and analysis of 
(I) the events leading up to the Statement, (II) the issuance of the Statement, and 
(III) the aftermath of the Statement. Our objective was to examine the 
circumstances surrounding the Statement, providing an independent account of the 
events that transpired in the interest of transparency and good government. Our 
conclusions, in brief, are the following: 

I. The Department led a flawed process that discounted NOAA participation. 
II. The Department required NOAA to issue a Statement that did not further 

NOAA’s or NWS’s interests. 
III. The Department failed to account for the public safety intent of the NWS 

Birmingham tweet and the distinction between physical science and social 
science messaging. 

IV. One NOAA employee deleted relevant text messages, and the Department’s 
federal records guidance is outdated. 

We are providing a fully unredacted copy of the report for your review. This report 
is undergoing a privilege review, and the final report that will be publicly released 
on OIG’s website may be redacted for privilege purposes. In addition, OIG has 
applied minimal elective redactions for privacy purposes to the version of the 
report that will be publicly posted on OIG’s website on Monday, June 29, 2020, 
pursuant to section 8M of the Inspector General Act of 1978, as amended (5 U.S.C. 
App., § 8M). We are also providing you a copy of this version of the report for 
your information.  
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If you have any questions concerning this report, please contact me at (202) 482-4661. 

Attachment 

cc: Karen Dunn Kelley, Deputy Secretary of Commerce 
Michael J. Walsh, Jr., Chief of Staff 
Dr. Neil Jacobs, Assistant Secretary of Commerce for Environmental 

Observation and Prediction, performing the duties of Under Secretary  
of Commerce for Oceans and Atmosphere, NOAA 

Benjamin Friedman, Deputy Under Secretary for Operations, NOAA 
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Introduction 
[W]eather . . . is the most apolitical thing you could possibly do. Because that 
tornado doesn’t care who you’re voting for. It will rip up your house . . . . 
[W]e don’t bring politics in here. . . . We work as a team to serve people. 

— Forecaster, National Weather Service, Birmingham, AL  

At the Department of Commerce’s (Department’s) direction, the National Oceanic and 
Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) issued the following unsigned statement on Friday, 
September 6, 2019 (Statement): 

From Wednesday, August 28, through Monday, September 2, the 
information provided by NOAA and the National Hurricane Center to 
President Trump and the wider public demonstrated that tropical-
storm-force winds from Hurricane Dorian could impact Alabama. This 
is clearly demonstrated in Hurricane Advisories #15 through #41, which 
can be viewed at the following link.1 

The Birmingham National Weather Service’s Sunday morning tweet 
spoke in absolute terms that were inconsistent with probabilities from 
the best forecast products available at the time. 

The Department and NOAA issued the Statement in response to a request by the White 
House then-acting Chief of Staff, Mick Mulvaney, to Secretary of Commerce Wilbur Ross. The 
request and resulting sequence of events gave rise to the question of political interference in 
the Department’s and NOAA’s handling of events that began on September 1, 2019.2 
Significantly, the Statement rebuked the National Weather Service’s (NWS’s) Birmingham, AL, 
office (NWS Birmingham) for a September 1, 2019, tweet that advised that “Alabama will NOT 
see any impacts from #Dorian” after Mr. Mulvaney requested a “correction or an explanation 
or both” of this NWS Birmingham tweet.  

Mr. Mulvaney’s request appears to have been based on the perception that NWS Birmingham 
“intentionally contradicted” President Trump, who tweeted on September 1, in reference to 
Hurricane Dorian, that “[i]n addition to Florida – South Carolina, North Carolina, Georgia, and 
Alabama, will most likely be hit (much) harder than anticipated.” However, evidence 
demonstrates that NWS Birmingham was responding to questions from the public, and we 
found no evidence that NWS Birmingham was aware that President Trump had tweeted that 
Alabama would most likely be hit harder than anticipated by Hurricane Dorian. Further, on 
September 1, NWS Birmingham appropriately addressed public confusion about the current 

                                            
1 National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration National Weather Service. DORIAN Graphics Archive: 5-Day 
Probability of Tropical-Storm-Force-Winds [online]. 
https://www.nhc.noaa.gov/archive/2019/DORIAN_graphics.php?product=wind_probs_34_F120 (accessed April 27, 
2020). 
2 September 5, 2019, email from Mick Mulvaney to Wilbur Ross, attached in redacted form as appendix G. It is not 
clear why Mr. Mulvaney referenced a Saturday tweet about Alabama in this email. Our review of President 
Trump’s tweets related to Hurricane Dorian did not find a Saturday, August 31, 2019, tweet related to Hurricane 
Dorian affecting Alabama. 
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forecast for Hurricane Dorian with respect to Alabama, which was an important measure to 
ensure public safety. 

NWS is a component of NOAA, which is a scientific agency within the Department. NWS’s 
mission—and consequently one of NOAA’s and the Department’s missions—is to provide 
weather, water, and climate data, forecasts and warnings for the protection of life and property 
and enhancement of the national economy.3 The Department defended the issuance of the 
Statement as a necessary correction of the NWS Birmingham office to ensure the scientific 
accuracy of weather forecasts. But the direct accounts of how and why the Statement was 
drafted vary significantly. Upon our review of the evidence in its totality—including these varied 
accounts, and in the light of the stated mission of NWS to “protect life and property”—we 
found that the NWS Birmingham weather forecasting staff acted properly on September 1 in 
tweeting a public safety message to inform the public and emergency management partners that 
Alabama would not see impacts from Hurricane Dorian.  

The Department’s reaction 5 days later to the NWS Birmingham tweet was prompted by a 
White House request—rather than to correct a 5-day old forecast, or to alleviate any 
confusion about that forecast—and revealed that the Department failed to understand the 
public safety intent underlying the Birmingham NWS tweet. In addition, the Department’s 
mismanagement of the response to the White House, which took place on a day when 
Secretary Ross and his Chief of Staff traveled from Greece to Turkey, resulted in both a tense 
process and final product that caused some NOAA employees to assume that jobs were on the 
line. The rushed process also failed to fully include NOAA stakeholders and thereby 
undermined the Department’s goal of issuing a public statement that would be supported by 
NOAA employees. 

Further, the very issuance of the Statement had public safety implications. An immediate, but 
briefly lived, consequence was that leaders at some NWS offices lost or had diminished 
connections with their emergency management contacts after having to turn off their mobile 
phones due to the number of calls about the Statement. However, the broader, longer-term 
consequence is that NOAA’s rebuke of the NWS Birmingham office could have a chilling effect 
on NWS forecasters’ future public safety messages, as well as undercut public trust in NWS 
forecasts.  

There was significant internal and public backlash against the Statement, resulting in multiple 
complaints to our office from the public as well as Congressional inquiries. Among the 
complaints was that the Statement violated NOAA’s Scientific Integrity Policy; NOAA has since 
conducted an inquiry to determine whether its Scientific Integrity Policy had been violated. Our 
work to date, reported here, is separate and distinct from NOAA’s work under its Scientific 
Integrity Policy.4 

  

                                            
3 NOAA NWS. NWS Mission [online]. https://www.weather.gov/about/ (accessed April 27, 2020). 
4 We did not evaluate NOAA’s compliance with that policy or make any judgment with respect to the scientific 
accuracy of the Statement.  
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Background 
I. NOAA and NWS 

The Department includes numerous operating units; its largest bureau is NOAA, which 
accounts for nearly half of the Department’s annual budget. NOAA summarizes its mission 
as “Science, Service, and Stewardship”: 

1. To understand and predict changes in climate, weather, oceans and coasts; 

2. To share that knowledge and information with others; and 

3. To conserve and manage coastal and marine ecosystems and resources.5 

NOAA’s status as a scientific agency is evident: the agency’s commitment to science 
statement makes clear that “[s]cience is the foundation for all NOAA does.”6 This includes 
NOAA’s weather forecasts and warnings and the work performed by NWS, which operates 
as one of NOAA’s line offices.7 NOAA is currently led by Dr. Neil Jacobs, the Assistant 
Secretary of Commerce for Environmental Observation and Prediction, whose background 
is in atmospheric science. Dr. Jacobs was confirmed to his position in March 2018 and has 
been performing the duties of the Under Secretary for Oceans and Atmosphere—that is, 
performing as NOAA’s acting administrator—since February 2019.8 Prior to joining NOAA, 
Dr. Jacobs ran a research division in the private sector. 

NWS, including its 122 Weather Forecast Offices (WFOs), “provides weather, water, and 
climate forecasts and warnings for the United States, its territories, adjacent waters and 
ocean areas, for the protection of life and property and the enhancement of the national 
economy.”9 In June 2011, NWS finalized a new strategic plan entitled “Building a Weather-
Ready Nation,” and in April 2013, issued a revised Weather-Ready Nation (WRN) 
Roadmap. The WRN Roadmap included a Services Plan, a Workforce Evolution Plan, a 
Science and Technology Plan, and a Business Plan.10  

Within the Services Plan, NWS identified the need to shift from “product-focused service” 
toward an “impact-based decision support services [IDSS] approach,” so that users may 
better utilize NWS information “to plan and take preventive actions.” NWS stated that this 

                                            
5 NOAA. Our mission and vision [online]. https://www.noaa.gov/our-mission-and-vision (accessed April 27, 2020). 
6 NOAA. Our commitment to science [online]. https://www.noaa.gov/our-commitment-to-science (accessed April 27, 
2020).  
7 NOAA “is the sole U.S. government authority for issuing official weather and water warnings.” See NOAA NWS, 
April 2013. National Weather Service Weather-Ready Nation Roadmap, version 2.0. Silver Spring, MD; NOAA NWS, 
p. 1. 
8 President Trump nominated Dr. Jacobs to the position of Under Secretary for Oceans and Atmosphere on 
January 6, 2020, and his confirmation to this position is pending. 
9 NOAA NWS. Forecasts and Service [online]. https://www.weather.gov/about/forecastsandservice (accessed April 
27, 2020). 
10 NOAA NWS, April 2013. Weather-Ready Nation, version 2.0. Silver Spring, MD: NOAA NWS [online]. 
https://www.weather.gov/media/wrn/nws_wrn_roadmap_final_april17.pdf (accessed June 8, 2020). 
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goal would require a change in how NWS personnel convey information such as weather 
forecasts and warnings to communicate “in terms of societal impacts to those most at risk.” 
NWS described this as a “transformational change,” in which it moved “away from simply 
disseminating what weather will occur to . . .  disseminating and communicating how and 
when weather will affect communities.” The “transformation to a culture of IDSS will enable 
NWS to accomplish its strategic goal of improving weather decision services for events that 
threaten lives and livelihoods.” Within the Workforce Evolution Plan, NWS identified the 
need to train personnel to “incorporate social science principles into day-to-day operations, 
including effective communication.” One specific requirement for NWS to improve IDSS 
was for its personnel to “[a]rticulate forecast uncertainty and how weather-related impacts 
translate to risk.” 

The Birmingham WFO, referred to in this report as NWS Birmingham, is responsible for 
forecasts for 39 counties in central Alabama. One NWS Birmingham meteorologist 
described the forecasters’ duties as assisting with forecast operations, including the official 
7-day forecast, watches, and warnings for the general public in central Alabama. The 
forecaster also noted that they issue fire weather forecasts and aviation forecasts for their 
seven major airport locations—and that they coordinate with the national centers, such as 
the Storm Prediction Center and National Hurricane Center (NHC). This forecaster told 
us that “we closely work with our partners, our emergency management partners, as well 
as the public when we issue [our] forecasts.” 

II. Hurricane Dorian 

As early as August 24, NWS and its NHC were monitoring Tropical Storm Dorian as the 
potential for impact to the United States grew. By Friday, August 30, the storm had 
strengthened to a major hurricane. 

During this time period, President Trump received regular updates and briefings on 
Hurricane Dorian. At 10:51 a.m. Eastern Daylight Time (EDT)11 on September 1, 2019—as 
Hurricane Dorian neared landfall as a Category 5 hurricane in the northwestern Bahamas—
President Trump tweeted: 

                                            
11 All times in this report are based on times shown on Twitter and in emails, text messages, and phone records. 
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Figure 1. President Trump September 1 Tweet 

 
 Source: Twitter 

Twenty minutes later, at 11:11 a.m. EDT, NWS Birmingham tweeted: 

Figure 2. NWS Birmingham September 1 Tweet 

 
 Source: Twitter 

The apparent contradiction between these two tweets caught public attention and 
transformed into a national media story that ultimately resulted in NOAA’s September 6 
Statement: 

From Wednesday, August 28, through Monday, September 2, the 
information provided by NOAA and the National Hurricane Center to 
President Trump and the wider public demonstrated that tropical-
storm-force winds from Hurricane Dorian could impact Alabama. This 
is clearly demonstrated in Hurricane Advisories #15 through #41, which 
can be viewed at the following link.12 

                                            
12 NOAA NWS. DORIAN Graphics Archive: 5-Day Probability of Tropical-Storm-Force-Winds [online]. 
https://www.nhc.noaa.gov/archive/2019/DORIAN_graphics.php?product=wind_probs_34_F120 (accessed April 27, 
2020). 



 

6  FINAL REPORT NO. OIG-20-032-I 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE   OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL 
 

The Birmingham National Weather Service’s Sunday morning tweet 
spoke in absolute terms that were inconsistent with probabilities from 
the best forecast products available at the time. 

Hurricane Dorian eventually made landfall in the United States in the early morning of 
September 6, 2019—when it hit Cape Hatteras, NC, as a Category 1 hurricane. NOAA’s 
weather forecasting model had correctly predicted the path of Hurricane Dorian, and 
preliminary statistics on September 6, 2019, showed that NHC’s track forecast for 
Hurricane Dorian was more accurate than NHC’s 5-year average for track forecast 
accuracy.13 

The following section sets forth a chronology and analysis of the events surrounding NWS 
Birmingham’s tweet and NOAA’s September 6, 2019, Statement. 

 

                                            
13 September 6, 2019, email from Neil Jacobs and attachment, attached as appendix I. 
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Figure 3. NOAA Statement Timeline of Events 
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Objective, Findings, and Conclusions 
On September 7, 2019, the Inspector General issued a memorandum to Dr. Neil Jacobs, the 
acting head of NOAA, to notify him that our office was opening a matter to examine the 
circumstances surrounding the Statement and instituting a preservation hold on relevant 
documents.14 Appendix A details the objective, scope, and methodology of this work. 

Our findings are presented as a detailed Chronology and Analysis of (I) the events leading up to 
the Statement, (II) the issuance of the Statement, and (III) the aftermath of the Statement. Our 
conclusions follow, which in brief are:  

I. The Department Led a Flawed Process That Discounted NOAA Participation  

II. The Department Required NOAA to Issue a Statement That Did Not Further NOAA’s 
or NWS’s Interests 

III. The Department Failed to Account for the Public Safety Intent of the NWS Birmingham 
Tweet and the Distinction Between Physical Science and Social Science Messaging 

IV. One NOAA Employee Deleted Relevant Text Messages, and the Department’s Federal 
Records Guidance Is Outdated 

Findings—Chronology and Analysis 

I. The Events Leading up to the September 6 Statement 

A. President Trump Announced That Alabama Would Likely Be Hit by Hurricane Dorian 

The National Security Council (NSC) conducted President Trump’s regular briefings on 
Hurricane Dorian. NOAA does not send forecast products and information directly to 
President Trump. Rather, NOAA is required to send this information to the NSC. 
According to Dr. Jacobs, information sent to the NSC passed through multiple 
intermediaries before reaching the President.  

Dr. Jacobs, however, participated in or attended three Presidential briefings on 
Hurricane Dorian, including a briefing with the President and Vice President in the Oval 
Office on Thursday, August 29, 2019, and, along with FEMA leadership, a video 
teleconference (VTC) briefing to President Trump on Saturday, August 31, 2019. 
According to Julie Roberts, who was then serving as NOAA’s Director of 
Communications and Deputy Chief of Staff,15 no questions about Alabama arose during 
the Saturday briefing. 

                                            
14 Inspector General memorandum to Dr. Neil Jacobs. September 7, 2019. Request for Information Pursuant to the 
Inspector General Act of 1978, as Amended. Available online at 
https://www.oig.doc.gov/OIGPublications/Memorandum_from_the_Inspector_General.pdf (accessed April 27, 
2020). 
15 These positions are political appointee positions, not career staff positions. Ms. Roberts moved to a position in 
another component of the Department in December 2019. 
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Then, on Sunday, September 1, 2019, at 10:51 a.m. EDT, President Trump tweeted: 

In addition to Florida - South Carolina, North Carolina, Georgia, and 
Alabama, will most likely be hit (much) harder than anticipated. Looking 
like one of the largest hurricanes ever. Already category 5. BE 
CAREFUL! GOD BLESS EVERYONE! 

A short time later on September 1, President Trump received a briefing from FEMA. Dr. 
Jacobs and Ms. Roberts went to FEMA headquarters for the briefing, although the 
director of the NHC gave the actual briefing to the President via VTC. Ms. Roberts told 
us that, given her focus on preparing for the briefing, she was “oblivious to a tweet that 
had gone out [from President Trump] or a tweet from [NWS] Birmingham at this 
point.” 

President Trump spoke at FEMA at approximately 12:30 p.m. EDT on September 1. The 
transcript of the remarks released by the White House show that, in discussing 
Hurricane Dorian, President Trump stated: 

And, I will say, the states—and it [Dorian] may get a little piece of a 
great place: It’s called Alabama. And Alabama could even be in for at 
least some very strong winds and something more than that, it could be. 
This just came up, unfortunately. It’s the size of—the storm that we’re 
talking about. So, for Alabama, just please be careful also.16 

Dr. Jacobs and Ms. Roberts both stated that they first heard President Trump mention 
Alabama on Sunday and were “baffled.” According to Dr. Jacobs, during the briefing, the 
director of the NHC “actually tried to say . . . the model guidance has shifted more 
towards the east coast. . . . [T]he thinking now is that the track is going to go up.” Dr. 
Jacobs continued: “[T]hat was the first time when I was wondering why are we still 
talking about Alabama, you know? Even though some of the Hurricane Center guidance 
still had Alabama in the percent probability impact region, the actual center of the track 
was going to bust the coast.” He elaborated that “[w]hat [the NHC director] was trying 
to explain was the wind field and the storm is 300 miles across. So even if it stays east of 
Savannah, Alabama could still see some impacts. But I don’t think anyone at that point 
thought Alabama would get a direct hit.” Dr. Jacobs did not recall seeing the President’s 
tweet referencing Alabama but remembered getting emails about the tweet.  

Ms. Roberts also described being surprised when the President mentioned Alabama on 
Sunday, September 1. She first realized the tweets could become a story around 2:30 or 
3:00 p.m. EDT the afternoon of September 1. 

After hearing the President’s remarks, Ms. Roberts and Dr. Jacobs tried to understand 
why President Trump would mention that Alabama was at risk from Hurricane Dorian. 
At 6:09 p.m. EDT on September 1, Ms. Roberts forwarded to Dr. Jacobs public relations 
response points that FEMA circulated in coordination with White House 

                                            
16 The White House. Remarks by President Trump in Briefing on Hurricane Dorian [online]. 
https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefings-statements/remarks-President-trump-briefing-hurricane-dorian/ (accessed 
April 27, 2020).  



 

10  FINAL REPORT NO. OIG-20-032-I 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE   OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL 
 

Communications. FEMA’s response points stated that, if a party were asked about the 
President’s remarks on Alabama impacts from Hurricane Dorian, that party should 
respond that, “[a]ccording to the National Hurricane Center’s late morning update – 
released just prior to the President’s briefing – a small portion of the southeast coast of 
Alabama could in fact see some tropical storm force wind and rainfall impacts as a result 
of Hurricane Dorian.” FEMA’s response points included a map showing “Most Likely 
Arrival Time of Tropical-Storm-Force Winds” issued at 11 a.m. EDT on September 1.17 
Ms. Roberts wrote to Dr. Jacobs, “This [map] explains Alabama comment” (see figure 4 
and appendix C).  

Figure 4. Ms. Roberts September 1 Email Attachment to Dr. Jacobs 

 
Source: From OIG collected emails 

B. NWS Birmingham Responded to Alabama Residents’ Questions About Hurricane Dorian 

Meanwhile, on the morning of September 1, three experienced meteorologists worked 
a shift in the NWS Birmingham WFO beginning at 7:00 a.m. Central Daylight Time 
(CDT). Coming into that shift, the office had been involved with regular briefings with 
state officials regarding the potential impacts of Hurricane Dorian for the state of 
Alabama, because earlier models showed Dorian crossing Florida into the Gulf of 

                                            
17 Tropical-storm-force winds are winds exceeding 39 miles per hour, up to 73 miles per hour. 
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Mexico toward Alabama. However, on Saturday, August 31, 2019, the State of Alabama 
discontinued these briefings because, according to one forecaster, “there was enough of 
a trend in the model data where . . . there [were] no impacts [on Alabama] and the 
state decided to kind of spin down.” This decision was consistent with information from 
the NHC about Hurricane Dorian. The State Coordination Group18 held its last official 
call on Saturday morning, August 31—because, by this time, the official forecast track 
had shifted even further east and north “with even the direct Florida landfall becoming 
less likely.” At this point, emergency managers and meteorologists were in agreement 
that Alabama was no longer in danger of a direct landfall. 

On the morning of September 1, 2019, according to reviewed phone records, NWS 
Birmingham received six phone calls from the beginning of the 7:00 a.m. CDT shift until 
the office issued the tweet about Hurricane Dorian at 10:11 a.m. CDT (four of the calls 
came before the President’s tweet at 9:51 a.m. CDT), as well as at least one direct 
message on social media, from people inquiring about Hurricane Dorian hitting 
Alabama.19 According to one forecaster, it would not be unusual to receive six phone 
calls during the Sunday morning shift, but it would be unusual to receive that number of 
calls from people all asking the same question. In response to these inquiries, the 
forecaster who was responsible for social media that morning decided to tweet that 
Alabama would not be impacted by Hurricane Dorian. The forecaster also posted the 
same message on the NWS Birmingham Facebook page. 

The three NWS Birmingham forecasters that worked that Sunday morning and the 
Meteorologist-in-Charge (MIC) all testified they were not aware of President Trump’s 
tweet at the time the office tweeted that Alabama would not see any impacts from 
Dorian. As one forecaster said, “we weren’t responding to anyone [specifically]. We 
were just saying that we weren’t going to be impacted.” We did not uncover any 
evidence that contradicts this testimony.20 The forecasters first learned of the 
President’s tweet when they “started noticing just tons of feedback on social media” and 
specifically when a local broadcast meteorologist in Birmingham commented on the 
President’s message. In fact, as initial comments on Twitter came in, including a mention 
of the President, one forecaster recalled remarking to the other forecasters: “‘Why do 

                                            
18 An NWS Birmingham meteorologist explained that State Coordination Group calls involve the Alabama 
Emergency Management Agency (EMA) and the Governor’s Cabinet. 
19 According to an NWS Birmingham forecaster, the WFO in Mobile, AL, had also received questions about 
Hurricane Dorian that morning, and forecasters there were thinking of sending out a similar message. We learned 
that some emergency management partners of NWS Birmingham were also getting similar calls about Hurricane 
Dorian that morning, and local broadcast meteorologists confirmed to the Birmingham Meteorologist-in-Charge 
(MIC) that they received questions the morning of September 1 about Dorian hitting Alabama, including questions 
about evacuating family from the Gulf.  
20 Three forecasters testified that the NWS Birmingham office followed weather-related Twitter accounts, but did 
not follow political accounts, including President Trump’s Twitter account. This is consistent with testimony from 
a NOAA Communications employee, who dismissed the idea that weather forecasters would be following 
President Trump’s Twitter account on the job: “[T]here is not a forecaster just following [what appears on] 
TweetDeck. . . .  [T]he Agency’s not built like that, it’s not savvy like that. . . .  [T]hey’re pushing out forecast 
tweets and Facebook posts, but they’re not actively . . . monitoring what’s happening in the broader world.” 
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we have to make everything political?’ . . . because, you know, I didn’t know what was 
going on.” 

According to testimony and the phone records provided, some inquiries—including four 
phone calls—about Hurricane Dorian came in before President Trump tweeted that 
Alabama (among other states) would be hit by Dorian, suggesting more generalized 
confusion about Hurricane Dorian as the forecast had shifted over the past few days. 
The Birmingham forecasters explained that “part of our job is to dispel rumors,” and 
the September 1 tweet was intended as a public safety message to dispel any rumor or 
misunderstanding that Hurricane Dorian was expected to hit the state of Alabama.21 
The forecaster responsible for social media that morning elaborated that the tweet was 
both “reactive and proactive” The forecaster explained that the tweet 

was in reaction to things that had happened that morning. [B]ut you 
know, we try to take it a step further. And then I thought, well, if there 
are some people with questions calling, there’s got to be a lot of people 
out there that have the same questions or concerns that aren’t 
contacting us. So it was proactive as well to try to kind of keep 
additional questions and things like that from coming into the office.  

The forecaster elaborated that NWS Birmingham takes seriously its interactions with 
the public, and “we try to do a really good job of engaging and interacting with people, 
like answering questions. . . . [T]hat’s what we’re here for.”  

Once the President’s and NWS Birmingham’s tweets were linked together in media 
accounts and on social media, however, the Birmingham forecasters notified the MIC 
and inquired how to handle the situation. The MIC initially suggested that the office 
forward press inquiries to him. He later sent an email to NWS Birmingham staff again 
instructing them to forward questions to him. He copied NWS Communications for 
their awareness and stated that NWS Birmingham had not been responding to President 
Trump’s tweet.  

Later that day, NWS alerted all WFOs “to only stick with official NHC forecasts if 
questions arise from some national-level social media posts” and forward any incoming 
questions to NOAA Public Affairs. This email was prompted by an NWS official deciding 
that WFOs “[n]eed to keep [their] folks safe and out of the fray.” On September 1, a 
senior NWS official forwarded this email to Ms. Roberts who explained to us that 
NOAA asked NWS offices to send any questions about the tweets to NOAA Public 
Affairs “to help control the message,” not to restrict people from talking about science. 
Ms. Roberts testified that NOAA’s standard communications process had been 
followed, and she agreed that the decision for NOAA Communications to handle 
questions was made to protect NWS employees. Ms. Roberts also explained that 
directions to send questions up to NOAA Communications are generally (and in this 

                                            
21 One reason that NWS forecasters consider it a part of their job to dispel rumors is because of potential 
negative impacts if an incorrect rumor takes hold, such as “people running paranoid” or NWS losing credibility, 
potentially affecting future situations when NWS needs people to take action based on a forecast. 
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case) “put out to try to take the pressure off of [WFO employees] so they can actually 
continue to do their jobs.” 

On the afternoon of Sunday, September 1, NOAA Communications began responding 
to press inquiries about Hurricane Dorian affecting Alabama by providing NHC’s official 
forecasts and stating that the “current path of Dorian does not include Alabama.”  

C. Alabama Stayed In the News 

As media accounts continued to link the NWS Birmingham tweet with President 
Trump’s September 1 tweet referencing Alabama, NWS Birmingham meteorologists 
expressed frustration that they were unable to explain that they had not been 
responding to President Trump. NWS leadership knew on September 1 that NWS 
Birmingham had not been responding to President Trump. By September 2, 2019, NWS 
leadership had informed NOAA senior leadership that NWS Birmingham was not 
responding to or intentionally contradicting President Trump—it had sent its tweet in 
response to “anxious and panicked questions and calls” from “citizens and core 
partners.”22 

When asked why NOAA did not do more to clarify that NWS Birmingham had not 
been responding to President Trump on September 1, 2019, Ms. Roberts said that “[i]t’s 
a White House story; it’s not a NOAA story.” In addition, she said that “normally if you 
just don’t feed the media beast and all the misinformation, the story just goes away.” 
However, Ms. Roberts indicated that “in hindsight . . . we would have found a way to 
address that more directly.”  

Ms. Roberts explained that NOAA Communications had tried to manage the story from 
September 1 through September 3, 2019, but then things “blew up” on September 4, 
2019, when the President displayed a modified NOAA Hurricane Dorian cone plot.23 
Ms. Roberts noted that the story somewhat died off by Tuesday, September 3, but 
“people kept keeping it out there.” Between September 1, 2019, and the issuance of the 
Statement on September 6, 2019, President Trump sent 11 tweets related to Alabama 
being affected by Hurricane Dorian. 

NOAA employees—including Ms. Roberts, Dr. Jacobs, and career Communications 
staff—gathered information to understand why President Trump had raised Alabama in 
the September 1, 2019, tweet and again in remarks he made at FEMA on September 1. 

                                            
22 On September 2, a senior NWS official emailed this explanation to Ms. Roberts. The NWS official continued 
that “[the office] did not know what created the escalation [of questions and calls], but thought a message would 
be the best way to reach a large audience quickly. With the active tornado and flooding the state has had this past 
season, they knew that Alabama and Gulf Coast citizens were very on edge.” Dr. Jacobs and other NOAA 
employees were copied on this email. 
23 The cone plot contains the probable path of the storm center but does not show the size of the storm. The 
enlarged Hurricane Dorian cone plot was left at the White House on Thursday, August 29, 2019, when Dr. Jacobs 
provided a briefing on Hurricane Dorian to President Trump and Vice President Pence. According to Dr. Jacobs, 
the cone plot had not been modified with a marker when NOAA left it at the White House. 
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In addition, they prepared talking points and graphics for the NSC to explain what basis 
President Trump may have had for mentioning Alabama.  

In the course of gathering this information, on September 3, 2019, Ms. Roberts emailed 
Dr. Jacobs a 5:00 a.m. EDT, August 31, 2019, version of the map showing “Most Likely 
Arrival Time of Tropical-Storm-Force Winds.” She noted that “[f]or a couple of days he 
[President Trump] was seeing where Alabama could be impacted with tropical storm 
force winds. Sent this to FEMA public affairs for distribution to the WH.” (See appendix 
D.) Dr. Jacobs explained that “we went through all of our different plots to see what 
could he have possibly seen that came out of NOAA that would have suggested 
Alabama. And the likely time of tropical storm force winds was the only plot . . . 
because the actual cone plot of the track never went into Alabama.”  

Figure 5. Ms. Roberts September 3 Email Attachment to Dr. Jacobs 

 
Source: OIG collected emails 

After President Trump displayed the modified NOAA cone plot on September 4, 2019, 
Dr. Jacobs and Ms. Roberts exchanged several emails with NOAA Communications 
employees about the basis for the President’s comments on Hurricane Dorian and 
Alabama. At 3:10 p.m. EDT that day, Ms. Roberts emailed Dr. Jacobs a draft explanation 
for President Trump’s remarks to be sent to the NSC: 
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Early forecasts showed the potential of Hurricane Dorian crossing 
Florida and moving into the Gulf of Mexico where a second landfall 
along the upper Gulf Coast would have been possible. At that time, 
other graphics (such as the likelihood of tropical storm-force winds) 
included a large part of the Southeast U.S., including Alabama. As 
NOAA began collecting more data about the storm, subsequent 
updates to the forecast correctly showed Dorian’s northward [turn] 
would occur earlier and spare Florida from a direct hit. 

That afternoon, a NOAA Communications employee emailed this statement to the 
NSC, along with the graphic from 5:00 a.m. EDT on Saturday, August 31, 2019, showing 
“Most Likely Arrival Time of Tropical-Storm-Force Winds.”24 Dr. Jacobs forwarded the 
statement and graphic to NOAA’s then-Chief of Staff the next day and explained the 
“Saturday 5am plot was what NSC showed him before the original tweet.” Dr. Jacobs 
added that “[i]t is technically *true* that Alabama was included; however, the green 
shades are 5–20% chance of seeing >39 mph winds.” 

At 3:52 p.m. EDT on September 4, 2019, Dr. Jacobs emailed a member of the NSC who 
had been briefing President Trump about Hurricane Dorian, concerning what the 
President may have been referencing. In an email with the subject matter “AL plot 
(urgent),” Dr. Jacobs wrote “I believe this was the graphic that POTUS was referencing. 
It shows AL included in a small (5–20%) but non-zero chance to see winds exceeding 39 
mph. If you need more info, feel free to call.” (See appendix E.) In response, a member 
of the NSC inquired about whether Dr. Jacobs had a similar chart from Sunday morning 
or spaghetti plots25 from the Oval Office briefing that occurred on Thursday, August 29 
and said he was “[s]till trying to put to bed the Alabama/fake news issue.” Dr. Jacobs 
responded that “[w]e don’t produce spaghetti plots with our output because it 
generates confusion; however, many private sector companies do.” He also provided 
links to all of NOAA’s 5-day cone graphics, 5-day wind speed probabilities for winds 
greater than 39 mph, and all NHC plots. Dr. Jacobs noted that “[i]n the wind speed 
probability plot, you can see that Alabama *is* included from advisory #15 all the way to 
advisory #41. Granted, it never exceeded a 30% chance (light green).” The NSC contact 
replied that “[f]ront office says they have all they need now.” (See appendix F.) 

On Thursday, September 5, 2019, President Trump tweeted: 

                                            
24 NOAA Communications also began referring press inquiries to the White House after the modified NOAA 
cone plot was displayed. 
25 An NWS Birmingham meteorologist described a spaghetti plot as showing the track of every possible model run, 
in this case, for Hurricane Dorian. 
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Figure 6. President Trump September 5 Tweet 

 
Source: Twitter 

This tweet included a picture of the August 29, 2019, graphic of “Earliest Reasonable 
Arrival Time of Tropical-Storm-Force Winds.” Ms. Roberts forwarded a link to the 
tweet to Dr. Jacobs that afternoon, in an email with the subject line “New Tweet . . . 
w/NHC products from last Thursday/Friday.” 

Shortly thereafter, Dr. Jacobs responded to an email from his contact at the NSC and 
stated: “I think what POTUS tweeted was good. It shows Alabama was within the non-
zero probabilities of seeing tropical storm force winds. Even though the state was in the 
5–20% range, which are very low odds, it was not zero.” He also added “[g]oing 
forward, if anyone needs clarification on the best ways to interpret our graphics, I’m 
available. Even our publicly available plots are meant for more trained meteorologists.” 
(See appendix F.)  

Dr. Jacobs told us that his comment that “what POTUS tweeted was good” meant he 
thought the tweet “was fair” because “somebody showed [President Trump] our plots, 
which showed a five to 20 percent chance of impact. . . . So when he went out there and 
said Alabama could see impacts, he technically wasn’t wrong.” Dr. Jacobs qualified this 
explanation by noting that “[i]t’s not a five to 20 percent chance of a direct hit.” The 
evidence indicates that Dr. Jacobs repeatedly told the Department that the process by 
which information flowed through the NSC for the President’s briefings created the 
potential for error. As further illustrated by Dr. Jacobs, this potentially flawed process 
resulted in NOAA’s meteorological graphics and forecast products, “being shown to 
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someone who’s not a meteorologist, by someone who’s not a meteorologist.” We note, 
however, that Dr. Jacobs himself participated in three briefings to the President. 

Dr. Jacobs testified that a member of the NSC released a statement on September 5, 
2019, of which he said:  “NSC basically took the blame for the whole thing, and I 
thought, okay, fair enough. End of story.” As described below, however, the 
Department and NOAA became more involved after this point. 

II. September 5–6, 2019—The Drafting and Issuance of the September 6, 2019, 
Statement 

The direct accounts of how and why the Statement was drafted vary significantly. This 
subsection recounts the varied perspectives of what occurred on the night of September 5, 
2019, and on September 6, 2019. At a high level, we established that all the following events 
occurred: 

• On September 5, 2019, at 9:21 p.m. EDT, Mr. Mulvaney emailed Secretary Ross 
after speaking to him on the phone. Mr. Mulvaney wrote that “[a]s it currently 
stands, it appears as if the NWS intentionally contradicted the President. And we 
need to know why. He wants either a correction or an explanation or both.” (See 
appendix G.) 

• On September 5, 2019, Secretary Ross called Dr. Jacobs and requested a timeline 
of events. 

• During the morning of September 6, 2019 (Greece time), Secretary Ross tasked 
Michael Walsh, the Department’s Chief of Staff and acting General Counsel, with 
this matter and also requested a timeline of events. Secretary Ross and Mr. Walsh 
were in Greece (and traveled later that day to Turkey) as a part of a Departmental 
travel delegation. 

• Mr. Walsh started the task when he texted Dr. Jacobs, Ms. Roberts, and others 
starting at approximately 1:00 a.m. EDT (see appendix P) and then spoke with Ms. 
Roberts at approximately 2:30 a.m. EDT.  

• During the morning (EDT) of September 6, 2019, Dr. Jacobs and Ms. Roberts met 
with David Dewhirst, the Department’s then-acting Deputy General Counsel, at the 
Department’s headquarters at the Herbert C. Hoover Building in Washington, DC. 
The Deputy Secretary’s then-Chief of Staff and the then-Deputy General Counsel 
for Special Projects also participated in this meeting. 26 The September 6 Statement 
was drafted during this meeting. Other Department and NOAA employees went in 
and out of the meeting at various times. 

• The team at Department headquarters that drafted the Statement spoke with Mr. 
Walsh and Secretary Ross at least twice—and the Department’s then-Director of 

                                            
26 Mr. Dewhirst has since left the Department. The Deputy Secretary’s then-Chief of Staff is now serving within 
another Department component, and the then-Deputy General Counsel for Special Projects—who was also 
performing the delegated duties of the Assistant Secretary for Legislative and Intergovernmental Affairs at this 
time—is also now serving in another Department component. 
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Policy, who was also a part of the travel delegation, was on one of these phone 
calls.27 

• Mr. Walsh and Mr. Mulvaney spoke during the afternoon of September 6 (EDT), and 
Mr. Mulvaney approved the approach of NOAA issuing a public statement about the 
NWS Birmingham tweet and Dorian forecasts as they related to Alabama. 

• On September 6, 2019, at 3:15 p.m. EDT, Mr. Walsh forwarded to Mr. Mulvaney a 
copy of the final wording of the Statement, which he had received from Mr. 
Dewhirst, and wrote: “Per our discussion, please see the draft release below. We 
intend to issue at 4:00pm [sic]. Please feel free to call with any questions. Thanks.” 
(See appendix J.) 

• Mr. Walsh texted Dr. Jacobs that the Secretary wanted the Statement out “now” 
and that Mr. Mulvaney did not object to the Statement. (See appendix P.) 

• Dr. Jacobs informed certain senior NOAA officials (both political and career) of the 
Statement shortly before it was released, and Dr. Jacobs told some of them the 
Statement could not be changed without going to the highest levels at the White 
House. 

• NOAA issued the unattributed Statement by sending it to a group of reporters who 
had been following the story, posting it on the NOAA public website, and tweeting 
it. 

A. The White House Involved Secretary Ross in the Alabama Story 

On Thursday, September 5, 2019, President Trump’s then-acting Chief of Staff, Mick 
Mulvaney, called Secretary Ross, who was in Greece on Departmental travel and thus 
recalled being awakened early in the morning on Friday, September 6, 2019 (Greece 
time).28 According to Secretary Ross, during this call, Mr. Mulvaney described the 
President’s tweet referencing Alabama and the NWS Birmingham September 1, 2019, 
tweet, “and said they couldn’t understand why there was this discrepancy . . . and 
[asked] would I look into it and see what could be done to kind of close the gap?” 
Secretary Ross did not recall Mr. Mulvaney specifically asking for NOAA to issue a 
public statement in their call and told us that it struck him as “unusual” to have a 
“Presidential statement” (that is, the President’s tweet) that differed from a “NOAA 
statement” (that is, the NWS Birmingham tweet on September 1). Secretary Ross 
testified that he had not been familiar with this situation prior to the call from Mr. 
Mulvaney and remembered that the situation “totally blindsided” him. 

Following this call, at 9:21 p.m. EDT, Mr. Mulvaney emailed Secretary Ross:29 

                                            
27 The Department’s then-Director of Policy retired from the Department earlier this year. 
28 Later on September 6, the Department delegation traveled from Greece to Turkey. The delegation’s travel 
schedule thus affected their availability while the headquarters team worked on this matter on September 6. 
29 As discussed above in footnote 2, Mr. Mulvaney’s reference to a Saturday, August 31, 2019, tweet about 
Hurricane Dorian appears to be incorrect. 
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Figure 7. Mr. Mulvaney September 5 Email to Secretary Ross 

 

From: Mick Mulvaney 
To: Wilbur Ross 
Date: Thu. 05 Sep 2019 21:21:01 
Subject: Fwd: National Weather Service corrects Trump 

on Hurricane Dorian: ‘Alabama will not see any 
impacts’ 

Wilbur: here is the issue: the NWS put this release out —— ON 
SUNDAY —— saying Alabama was not at risk. 

I was with the President on Saturday when he put out the 
tweet about Alabama. And all  
The maps at that point included Alabama. So the question is: 
why would the NWS put this out on Sunday? 

If they had, as you suggested, received inquiries from people 
In Alabama, it seems that the more appropriate response —— on 
Sunday —— would have been to say either 1) Alabama is at 
risk, though slight or 2) Alabama is no longer at risk (if 
more recent maps that they had that I haven’t seen, showed 
that change). 

As it currently stands, it appears as if the NWS 
intentionally contradicted the president. And we need to know 
why. 

He wants either a correction or an explanation or both. 

Hope this makes sense. 

MM 

Source: Mr. Mulvaney, email message to Wilbur Ross, September 5, 2019 (see appendix G) 

Secretary Ross testified that he went back to sleep after speaking with Mr. Mulvaney and 
did not see this email until he woke up again later that morning on September 6, 2019. 
That morning, Secretary Ross spoke to Mr. Walsh, who was traveling with the 
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Secretary, and told him about the phone call. Secretary Ross tasked Mr. Walsh with 
finding out what had happened and specifically requested a timeline of events.30  

Mr. Walsh confirmed that the Secretary tasked him to work with NOAA leadership and 
“figure out what was the National Weather Service saying about impacts of Hurricane 
Dorian, generally, to Alabama in particular, when did they say them, who did they say 
them to?” Mr. Walsh became aware of Mr. Mulvaney’s involvement in this matter “[a]t 
some point between receiving the direction of the project and commencing the 
project.” He and NOAA leadership were also tasked with determining whether there 
was any point at which communications broke down between NOAA and the White 
House. 

Secretary Ross told us that he received an explanation (although he did not specify from 
whom) for why NWS Birmingham sent its tweet, as well as an explanation for why 
President Trump referenced Hurricane Dorian hitting Alabama. First, he was told that 
“after the President made his communique [tweet], there were a lot of phone calls and 
panicky . . . communiques to the NWS in Birmingham,” which prompted NWS 
Birmingham’s tweet stating that Alabama would not be impacted by Dorian. In Mr. 
Mulvaney’s email to Secretary Ross, however, Mr. Mulvaney suggested that, if that had 
been the case, the NWS Birmingham should have taken different actions to respond 
“more appropriate[ly].” Second, Secretary Ross told us he was informed that NOAA 
and NWS did not communicate directly to the White House but rather through staff at 
the NSC. Secretary Ross called Mr. Mulvaney back to report this explanation about the 
NSC process. In response, Secretary Ross recalled that “Mulvaney said he was aware of 
that, but he didn’t think that was the explanation.” While Mr. Mulvaney had requested a 
“correction or an explanation or both,” the explanations that Secretary Ross provided 
did not appear to meet Mr. Mulvaney’s request fully, because the process of responding 
to Mr. Mulvaney’s request continued under the direction of Mr. Walsh. 

B. Secretary Ross Called Dr. Jacobs for a Timeline 

On Thursday evening (EDT), September 5, 2019, Secretary Ross called Dr. Jacobs, who 
remembered receiving the call when he was at home. During this call, Dr. Jacobs 
recalled that Secretary Ross requested a timeline of “who showed what and just have 
everything ready in case we need it.” Dr. Jacobs and Ms. Roberts spoke on the phone 
after Dr. Jacobs’s call with Secretary Ross. However, Dr. Jacobs’s recollection of the call 
with Secretary Ross varied significantly from Ms. Roberts’s recollection of what Dr. 
Jacobs told her about his call with Secretary Ross. The contradictory accounts from 
each demonstrate their different understandings of the nature of Secretary Ross’s call 
with Dr. Jacobs: 

• In discussing the call, Dr. Jacobs testified that “when I talked to [the Secretary] 
he wasn’t mad at all. He wasn’t even upset; he just wanted to know what was 
going on. . . . And I didn’t really think anything would come of it, but he said put 

                                            
30 Mr. Walsh stated that Secretary Ross did not share this email with Mr. Walsh on the morning of September 6, 
2019, and that he in fact had not seen this email from Mr. Mulvaney prior to his interviews with us. 
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together a timeline. So I started doing that. And then I think the next time I 
heard anything [about the Secretary’s request] was like Friday morning. I turned 
my ringer off when I go to sleep and I guess they tried to call me Thursday 
night.”  

• In contrast, Ms. Roberts testified that Dr. Jacobs called her at about 9:00 or 
10:00 p.m. EDT on September 5, after Secretary Ross had called him. She 
described Dr. Jacobs as having a “sense of concern, urgency in his voice.” He 
reportedly told her that he had just gotten a call from Secretary Ross, who had 
received a call from Mr. Mulvaney asking about the “Alabama situation,” and the 
Secretary wanted a timeline to understand what was going on. Ms. Roberts 
continued that “there was something in Neil’s voice, and I don’t know if the 
Secretary said it, but Neil definitely felt like his job or somebody’s job could be 
on the line.” When asked about this phone call in a second interview, Ms. 
Roberts admitted that she was not sure that “he actually said, oh, I think my job 
is on the line, I just, I think he felt more of like there could be something more” 
to it. She explained that “I don’t know that he even explicitly said that he felt like 
his job was on the line or it was just kind of this like tone and . . . sense of angst 
in his voice.”31 

After hearing from Dr. Jacobs, Ms. Roberts said that she then called the then-Chief of 
Staff to the Deputy Secretary, telling him that the Secretary wanted them to gather 
information and that “Neil feels like maybe his job’s on the line.” According to Ms. 
Roberts, she and the Deputy Secretary’s then-Chief of Staff then planned to meet the 
next day, along with Dr. Jacobs and the Deputy Secretary to figure out what was going 
on. The Deputy Secretary’s then-Chief of Staff did not remember this specific call, but 
did say that Ms. Roberts may have called him given the amount of communication he 
had from her.  

C. Overnight Communications Continued 

Dr. Jacobs recalled that, after he turned his 
ringer off on September 5, “things went crazy in 
the middle of the night” before the Statement 
was drafted on September 6. Specifically—after 
Mr. Mulvaney contacted Secretary Ross, who in 
turn tasked Mr. Walsh with the “Alabama 
situation” 32—Mr. Walsh began a flurry of 

                                            
31 Ms. Roberts’s testimony on this point, in two interviews with us, is contradictory to her interview statements in 
NOAA’s Scientific Integrity inquiry—in which she said that, after Dr. Jacobs spoke with Secretary Ross, he was not 
“concerned” but “knew that we kind of needed to figure out what was going on.” Ms. Roberts’s interview in 
NOAA’s Scientific Integrity inquiry occurred 12 days before her first interview for our work. 
32 Ms. Roberts referred to this matter as the “Alabama situation” during her interview, and we use this phrase in 
several places to refer to these circumstances.  

“. . . things went crazy in 
the middle of the night” 
Dr. Neil Jacobs, describing the 
events that transpired before the 
Statement was drafted  
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communications to Dr. Jacobs, Ms. Roberts, and senior Departmental officials. 

At 1:08 a.m. EDT on Friday, September 6, 2019, Mr. Walsh texted Ms. Roberts and Dr. 
Jacobs that Secretary Ross “wants a chronology of who said what about Alabama from 
first briefing to the last. I thought you took Alabama out of play at the Sunday fema [sic] 
briefing but swr [Secretary Wilbur Ross] says you told him that Alabama was still in play 
then.” He continued: 

Figure 8. Mr. Walsh September 6 Text Message 

 
Source: OIG-created graphic based on collected text messages. (See appendix P.) 

Then, a little before 2:30 a.m. EDT, a Departmental staff member tried to call Dr. 
Jacobs, who did not answer his phone, and then immediately called Ms. Roberts. After 
the staff member told her that the Secretary needed to speak to Dr. Jacobs, who had 
not answered his phone, Ms. Roberts tried to call Dr. Jacobs from her personal phone 
to see whether he would answer. When Dr. Jacobs again did not answer, the staff 
member placed Mr. Walsh on the phone to speak with Ms. Roberts. Mr. Walsh and Ms. 
Roberts recall significantly different conversations. Their contradictory accounts are 
described below. 

According to Ms. Roberts, Mr. Walsh told her he needed to understand “what’s going 
on with the Alabama tweet.” When Ms. Roberts responded that she and Dr. Jacobs 
would figure out what happened first thing when she got up in the morning, Mr. Walsh 
reportedly said he needed the information “before the White House is awake in the 
morning,” creating a sense of urgency around the request. Ms. Roberts also testified that 
Mr. Walsh told her that “there are jobs on the line. It could be the forecast office in 
Birmingham. Or it could be someone higher than that. And the higher is less palatable.”  

In contrast, Mr. Walsh recalled telling Ms. Roberts that he wanted a chronology of what 
happened and what NWS had said about Alabama. He did not recall whether he shared 
that the NWS Birmingham tweet was a part of the matter at that point. Mr. Walsh did 
recall “having to repeat myself. . . . I think it was just – it took a while to – took a while 
to make clear that we just really needed the chronology. I didn’t need any commentary 
on top. Just the facts. . . . I remember that being the theme, we need the facts. We need 
the facts. We need the facts.” Mr. Walsh testified that he did not tell Ms. Roberts or 
anyone else that jobs were on the line. 
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In response to Mr. Walsh’s request, Ms. Roberts prepared and emailed him a document 
at 3:48 a.m. EDT, providing some background and a chronology of events related to the 
tweets.33 She also responded to his text message sent to her and Dr. Jacobs at 3:14 a.m. 
EDT: 

Figure 9. Ms. Roberts September 6 Text Message34 

 
Source: OIG-created graphic based on collected text messages. (See appendix P.) 

Dr. Jacobs first saw these texts when he woke up on the morning of September 6, 2019, 
and his “anxiety level went through the roof.” Upon seeing Mr. Walsh’s suggested 
statement, he thought, “oh, you know, that doesn’t sound like something I want my 
name on.”  

That morning, Dr. Jacobs joined a lengthier text message exchange that Mr. Walsh 
started that also included Ms. Roberts, the Department’s then-Director of Public Affairs, 
and the Department’s then-Press Secretary.35 Mr. Walsh started this chain with the 
same texts, explaining Secretary Ross’s request for information and offering a sample 
statement from Dr. Jacobs. Mr. Walsh also stated that “[b]ased on this chronology it 
appears that NWS Birmingham’s 11:11 Sunday tweet about NO IMPACT was not 
consistent with the public forecast at the time.” 

                                            
33 The chronology is attached as appendix H. 
34 In an interview, Ms. Roberts asserted that her texts referring to a statement meant putting together a “holding 
statement” for future press inquiries, an explanation that seems inconsistent with the context of the text 
conversation. Ms. Roberts admitted to deleting these texts from her government mobile phone, an issue discussed 
in more detail in section III. 
35 The Department’s then-Director of Public Affairs and then-Press Secretary currently work in the private sector. 
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Dr. Jacobs, however, explained the forecasts 
and circumstances by which the President 
was briefed—and seemingly pushed back on 
the notion that NWS Birmingham had acted 
incorrectly. He sent several pictures of the 
track cone from Saturday and Sunday and 
noted that “AL was never in the track cone. 
. . . AL was in the percent probability of 
seeing tropical storm force winds.” Dr. 
Jacobs continued that “[t]his is really NSC 
not keeping him up to date. We sent NSC 
the latest updates as they come out.” 
Further, “[President Trump] did have old 
information. I had been directly updating 
[NOAA’s contact at the NSC]. Never 
mentioned Alabama.” He further continued 
that “[i]t’s literally impossible for them not 
to have the updated information unless they’re all in a [SCIF]36 somewhere. . . . NSC 
needs to stop trying to translate our plots for us. Nobody here would have said that AL 
was going to have impacts with a 15% chance of seeing 39 mph winds. That’s just a 
windy day even if it was 100% chance.”37 

In subsequent texts, Dr. Jacobs and Mr. Walsh discussed the “flawed process” by which 
the President is briefed as the “top line story.”38 Dr. Jacobs continued, “[t]hat’s the 
exact and only story. NSC should not be translating our plots to him. And they should 
also make sure he has the most up to date info. And should not be using non nws [sic] 
guidance from other sources. . . . If anything needs explaining it should be me doing it. 
And most of our plots do need explaining. . . . Forecasts can change on a dime which is 
why we do 3 hour intervals with hourly updates.” In the midst of this explanation, Mr. 
Walsh interjected “Perfect.” 

At this point, the then-Director of Public Affairs texted: “I think we are on the backside 
of the wave . . .  on this even if we had a better angle.” She continued that “best case we 
show that he [President Trump] was making public statements about old info when the 
up to date info was already publicly available. . . . [W]e can make it wors[e] here by 
accident.” The then-Director of Public Affairs later agreed in her interview that the 
Department was no longer receiving many inquiries from news outlets at that point—
and that the Statement was “responding . . .  to a question that no one’s asked.” She 
confirmed that “[l]eft to my own devices,” she would have counseled the Department 

                                            
36 SCIF stands for Sensitive Compartmented Information Facility. 
37 This is consistent with one NWS Birmingham forecaster’s testimony that “[w]orst-case scenario, you might get a 
wind gust of 30 miles an hour, and on any given day, you could. [W]ith any kind of storm in the summertime, 
you’re going to get a wind gust of 30, 35 miles an hour.” 
38 This process is outside of NOAA’s and the Department’s control, as well as outside of our jurisdiction. NOAA 
has reportedly engaged NSC contacts on this issue to avoid a repeat scenario and ensure that NOAA’s forecast 
products are adequately explained. 

“NSC needs to stop trying to 
translate our plots for us. 
Nobody here would have said 
that AL was going to have 
impacts with a 15% chance 
of seeing 39 mph winds. 
That’s just a windy day even 
if it was 100% chance.” 
Dr. Neil Jacobs, describing the 
circumstances by which the President  
was briefed  
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and NOAA not to issue the Statement. However, on September 6, 2019, the then-
Director of Public Affairs traveled to Turkey and joined the travel delegation late that 
day after NOAA issued the Statement. She thus had limited involvement with drafting 
and issuance of the Statement. 

Mr. Walsh told us that he began “[m]aking sure other folks in leadership roles at the 
Department of Commerce who are in the United States know that NOAA is doing this 
particular task, so that if, due to the time difference, they can’t get ahold of me, there’s 
other senior figures available to go to for guidance.” He contacted Mr. Dewhirst, the 
then-Deputy General Counsel for Special Projects, the Deputy Secretary’s then-Chief of 
Staff, the then-Director of Public Affairs, and the then-Press Secretary. He also had a 
one-on-one conversation with the Deputy Secretary that morning, in which he 
conveyed that the White House wanted something done, and the Deputy Secretary 
understood that this was a time-sensitive matter. Phone records also indicate that Mr. 
Walsh had short calls with Dr. Jacobs the morning of September 6, 2019. Mr. Walsh 
wanted to “tell everybody first hand” because “information gets distorted if it doesn’t  
. . . flow in a top-down manner sometimes.” Mr. Walsh, however, expected to be 
consulted on “any major decisions.” When asked whether he had said anything to Ms. 
Roberts, Dr. Jacobs, or anybody else about losing jobs, Mr. Walsh responded: 
“Absolutely not.” He elaborated that he hoped no one got the idea that people could 
lose their jobs from him “because that is not what I was looking to convey.”  

D. The Goal of Creating a Timeline Shifted to Drafting a Public Statement 

On the morning of September 6, Dr. Jacobs and Ms. Roberts convened with others in a 
conference room on the 5th floor of the Department’s headquarters, at the Herbert C. 
Hoover Building in Washington, DC. In this meeting, the Department and NOAA 
finalized the Statement. The space in which the group met is secured space occupied by 
senior political leadership at the Department, and is not within NOAA’s space.39 The 
core group included Dr. Jacobs, Ms. Roberts, and Mr. Dewhirst, along with the then-
Deputy General Counsel for Special Projects, and the Deputy Secretary’s then-Chief of 
Staff. The Department’s then-Press Secretary, the Deputy Secretary, and two career 
NOAA Communications staff members came in and out of the conference room, and 
others may have also left the room at times. Dr. Jacobs and Ms. Roberts were the only 
NOAA employees consistently in the room. Dr. Jacobs had been scheduled to spend 
the day at FEMA’s National Response Coordination Center (NRCC) in coordination 
with work related to Hurricane Dorian. His NOAA leadership team, other than Ms. 
Roberts, did not know he had been pulled into a conference room with Department 
senior leadership to instead deal with the “Alabama situation.” 

One absence from the room that some at NOAA later noted as conspicuous was 
NOAA’s then-Chief of Staff.40 In explaining why he did not contact anyone other than 

                                            
39 Dr. Jacobs recalled that Ms. Roberts specifically “asked if the DOC people could meet down by DOC instead of 
where our offices normally are” and that she seemed “apprehensive” about telling many people that they were 
going to the Department. 
40 NOAA’s then-Chief of Staff currently works in another component of the executive branch. 
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Ms. Roberts on the NOAA political leadership team, Dr. Jacobs said that “I certainly 
could have called them up, but I really viewed this as sort of a DOC led process. I mean, 
the whole thing Thursday, basically was, you know, came from DOC, that wasn’t, that 
wasn’t NOAA’s idea.”41 However, he also said he felt “isolated” and that “in retrospect I 
should have said we need to loop in [the then-Chief of Staff].”42 

We interviewed each person who was in the conference room, and each person on the 
travel team who was on a call with that group, while the Statement was drafted. Each 
person gave a different account (to varying degrees) of how the Statement was 
conceived of and drafted. Participants consistently stated, however, the meeting began 
with the original task of trying to figure out a timeline and what had happened with 
respect to the NWS Birmingham tweet and the President’s communications about 
Alabama. According to Mr. Dewhirst, the team “wanted to basically confirm our 
understanding that NOAA had provided all the right information” to the White House. 

There is a consensus that the headquarters team who drafted the Statement included 
Dr. Jacobs, Ms. Roberts, and Mr. Dewhirst, as well as the Deputy Secretary’s then-Chief 
of Staff and the then-Deputy General Counsel for Special Projects. They began the 
morning spread out around a large table, focused on separate tasks. Dr. Jacobs was on 
his computer, reviewing advisories, then reviewing print-outs of advisories. Ms. Roberts 
was compiling weather advisories into a large document for the Deputy Secretary. The 
Deputy Secretary’s then-Chief of Staff observed Ms. Roberts’s work product and began 
drafting a table with key information to “whittl[e] down what [Ms. Roberts] had been 
doing . . . into something that was a little bit more . . . digestible.” The Deputy Secretary 
wanted this key information because the team reportedly did not have enough facts and 
data “to answer all the questions” when she first met with them on the morning of 
September 6—and she advised them that “you got to make sure you’ve got full facts 
before you decide, you know, how to handle this thing.” 

The headquarters team had two phone calls with the Secretary’s travel team on Mr. 
Dewhirst’s government mobile phone.43 According to some, during the first call, the 
team discussed what deliverable to provide to the travel team—and it was during this 

                                            
41 Dr. Jacobs explained that “the whole thing Thursday” meant “the middle of the night calls, the ‘you better get a 
statement out,’ all that stuff.” 
42 Ms. Roberts apparently objected to including NOAA’s then-Chief of Staff—but, according to Dr. Jacobs, had 
requested not to include him “on almost every decision for the past year and a half.” The personnel and personal 
issues within NOAA’s political leadership team are outside the scope of our work on this matter. However, it 
appears that this background issue bled into how NOAA was represented in dealing with the Department on 
September 6, 2019. 
43 Mr. Dewhirst testified that they “had a phone call or two with the team who was in Europe . . . that morning” 
and that Mr. Walsh probably called him. Mr. Dewhirst did not remember whether he talked to Mr. Walsh again 
that day after the group calls. In fact, Mr. Dewhirst’s government mobile phone records show that between 11:36 
p.m. EDT on September 5, 2019, and 6:29 p.m. EDT on September 6, 2019, the government phones assigned to 
Mr. Walsh and Mr. Dewhirst sent or received calls from each other 11 times for a total of 81 minutes, including 5 
calls totaling 49 minutes between 11:15 a.m. EDT and 1:06 p.m. EDT, on September 6. 
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call that the team’s goal shifted from creating a timeline to drafting a public statement.44 
Mr. Walsh recalled that “a larger group conferred, Department leadership, NOAA 
leadership. . . . [T]here was a call and it’s my recollection that we came to the 
conclusion that something needed to be said to clarify that this [NWS Birmingham 
tweet] was somewhat imprecise.” But Dr. Jacobs and Ms. Roberts said they were 
unaware of a statement until they first saw a draft on Mr. Dewhirst’s iPad. Most 
participants we interviewed could not or would not pinpoint what caused this shift, who 
raised the idea of NOAA issuing a statement, or who made the decision to move 
forward with work on a public statement.45 However, Secretary Ross recalled that he 
asked, “through Mike [Walsh],” for the team or Dr. Jacobs “to work on something, 
some sort of statement that we could give either [to the] public or to the White House 
or to someone . . . explaining what happened. And ultimately, there was the little 
statement . . . read to me . . . over the phone.” But, when we asked directly, Secretary 
Ross denied that he gave Mr. Walsh an instruction to put out a statement. Rather, 
Secretary Ross recalled that they needed a way “to close the gap” between the NWS 
Birmingham tweet and the President’s statements. 

The team worked through iterations of a draft statement once this became its focus. All 
participants’ testimony, including Mr. Dewhirst’s, was in agreement that Mr. Dewhirst 
was responsible for the physical typing of various versions of the Statement on his iPad. 
Testimony varies greatly, however, on the exact role and influence Mr. Dewhirst had in 
drafting the statement. According to Mr. Dewhirst, he was merely a “scrivener” and a 
“facilitator” who was just “taking the inputs from the folks in the room,” and would take 
issue with saying that he “drafted” this statement. He said that Dr. Jacobs contributed 
the most to the statement and that, “I don’t think anybody has suggested that, you 
know, we didn’t work together on this. But I will say that it was NOAA, it was NOAA’s 
language, it was Neil’s language. It’s the final version that was made public.” Rather, Mr. 
Dewhirst was “just happy to facilitate” and, when asked what he and the other 
Department officials provided in terms of offering input, he replied “I don’t know.” 

Mr. Dewhirst said that everybody in the room “absolutely” contributed to the wording 
of the Statement. However, based on others’ testimony, the significance or substance of 
some participants’ contributions were minimal compared to Mr. Dewhirst’s. For 
example, one participant simply recalled adding dashes to the phrase “tropical-storm-
force winds.” Another participant remembered asking to change one word, while a third 
participant did not recall any specific inputs he made to drafts of the Statement. And—
while Mr. Dewhirst described two NOAA Communications employees as providing 
feedback on the statement—one of those employees said that, when they were in the 
room, “[t]his was not an editing process, it [the Statement] was just read out loud.” Dr. 

                                            
44 As facts were gathered, Mr. Walsh recalled that what he thought would be the “worst case scenario”—
discovery that NOAA had failed to provide up-to-date information to the White House about Hurricane Dorian, 
and specifically whether Alabama was in the “impact zone”—“did not come to pass.” 
45 A public press release was not the only option discussed. According to Dr. Jacobs, at one point “they” wanted 
us to tweet back, “not a statement, but a tweet.” He recalled that this idea arose during discussion with 
Departmental officials, but he did not know where the idea originated. 
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Jacobs agreed with Mr. Dewhirst that everyone in the room had input in the Statement, 
but he disagreed that Mr. Dewhirst was merely taking dictation.  

Several others described Mr. Dewhirst as having a central role in the substantive 
drafting of the Statement. When the Deputy Secretary’s then-Chief of Staff was asked 
whether Mr. Dewhirst just sat down and started working on a statement, he replied 
“He – yes.” When asked who worked on the Statement, Ms. Roberts similarly 
answered: “David Dewhirst. And then, I mean, I think at some point like [the then-
Deputy General Counsel for Special Projects] and others were looking at it. But it was 
mainly David that was working on the statement.” Ms. Roberts testified that she did not 
know when Mr. Dewhirst started drafting it or who directed him to do so. In addition, 
she recalled that Dr. Jacobs “was not instructing Mr. Dewhirst” while Mr. Dewhirst was 
drafting. Another participant described Mr. Dewhirst as the “center of gravity” in the 
room.  

Dr. Jacobs testified that there were different versions of the Statement. The first version 
he saw on Mr. Dewhirst’s iPad “wasn’t scientifically or technically correct and it was a 
lot more kind of inflammatory, just ripping [NWS] Birmingham.” Dr. Jacobs was not 
sure who had drafted the first version of the Statement he saw in the conference 
room.46 In describing his role, Dr. Jacobs stated that he “really tried to make it a 
scientifically accurate statement, which [it] was ultimately, and put a link to the 
Hurricane Center plots and explaining them, so that was the first paragraph.” 

Mr. Dewhirst also described the Statement as taking “several different forms” and said 
that “the wording definitely changed considerably from sort of the first, the first blush to 
the final.” But Mr. Dewhirst also said that he did not recall the precise wordings of 
previous versions and that they were not “substantially different in character.” Because 
Mr. Dewhirst drafted the Statement in the Notes application on his iPad, and did not 
save any different versions while drafting, there are no records of earlier versions of the 
Statement. In addition, Mr. Dewhirst only emailed the final wording of the Statement to 
Mr. Walsh for his and the White House’s review. The lack of preserved versions of the 
Statement makes it impossible to corroborate, or reconcile discrepancies in, testimonies 
about the drafting process. 

E. Why Was NWS Birmingham Rebuked? 

In our interviews, two different storylines—a NOAA version and a Department 
version—emerged with respect to the inclusion of the line in the Statement that 
rebuked NWS Birmingham by stating that the “Birmingham National Weather Service’s 
Sunday morning tweet spoke in absolute terms that were inconsistent with probabilities 
from the best forecast products available at the time.” 

                                            
46 The wording of the possible statement that Mr. Walsh texted to Dr. Jacobs and Ms. Roberts in the early 
morning of September 6 was not the more inflammatory version of a statement that Dr. Jacobs remembered first 
seeing in the conference room later that morning.  



 

FINAL REPORT NO. OIG-20-032-I  29 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE   OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL 
 

According to the NOAA version, the Department required the inclusion of the line 
criticizing the NWS Birmingham tweet. Dr. Jacobs testified that at least three or four 
people (himself, Ms. Roberts, and one or two NOAA Communications employees) 
objected to the inclusion of the line calling out NWS Birmingham for its tweet.47 But, 
during a call with the travel team, “we were basically overruled and [someone] said 
Birmingham’s got to stay in there.” Dr. Jacobs specified that he thought that it was 
someone in the travel delegation who overruled the objection to the sentence calling 
out NWS Birmingham. Ms. Roberts concurred that she and Dr. Jacobs “definitely 
pushed back on . . . that part of the statement,” as did the career NOAA 
Communications employees when the two of them were briefly in the conference room 
at the same time. Ms. Roberts “remember[ed] being specifically told, and I believe it was 
by Dave Dewhirst, I think it was Dave, that if the Birmingham part didn’t stay in, it 
wouldn’t meet the need. Whatever that meant.” Similarly, one NOAA Communications 
employee recalled that, after he asked whether the NWS Birmingham line could come 
out, Mr. Dewhirst turned to him and said “I don’t think so. . . . [S]ome part of that is 
going to stay.” The other NOAA Communications employee recalled that the two of 
them, after hearing the Statement, said “we can’t be naming these folks” and “what’s the 
point of the statement?” He did not, however, recall a response to the concerns they 
voiced. He said that “we weren’t necessarily asked for comment or in any way edited 
the document, but we raised concern over explicitly mentioning” the Birmingham office. 

In Dr. Jacobs’s view, the line about the NWS Birmingham tweet was not technically 
wrong, but “it was just a bad idea.” That is, “impugning them for doing what they 
thought was the right thing was the wrong thing to do.” Furthermore, “we don’t want 
to point fingers, we don’t want to act like we are questioning credibility because it was a 
knee-jerk tweet that they were just trying to calm the public down. They weren’t sitting 
around thinking like how would this pass the peer review scientific paper process. They 
were thinking I got to send a tweet out in ten seconds, my phone is ringing off the 
hook.” During testimony, Dr. Jacobs pointed out that others, possibly other forecast 
offices, sent out tweets about Hurricane Dorian similar to Birmingham’s September 1 
tweet and were not called out the way NWS Birmingham was. 

Dr. Jacobs relied on the September 1 NHC maps showing “Tropical-Storm-Force Wind 
Speed Probabilities” as support for the technical and scientific accuracy of the sentence 
in the Statement that called out the NWS Birmingham tweet as “inconsistent with 
probabilities from the best forecast products available at the time.” The NHC maps 

                                            
47 The Deputy Secretary’s then-Chief of Staff testified that he did not recall seeing the draft of the Statement when 
it included this line because he left the conference room earlier than others. We note, however, that one NOAA 
Communications employee described the Deputy Secretary’s then-Chief of Staff as present in the room when the 
NOAA Communications employees heard a draft of the Statement that included this line. The Deputy Secretary’s 
then-Chief of Staff said it was “certainly” not his idea to include the line, “because . . . I don’t have a confrontational 
demeanor” and would not naturally come up with that statement on his own. According to Dr. Jacobs, the Deputy 
Secretary commented that she did not think it was “a good idea . . .  to call out Birmingham specifically.” She 
agreed it was possible that she made this comment, but she did not specifically recall having done so. In addition, 
she did not read the final Statement with that line until after it had been issued, when nothing could be done.  



 

30  FINAL REPORT NO. OIG-20-032-I 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE   OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL 
 

from that morning showed that a small piece of Alabama had a 5–10 percent chance of 
having tropical-storm-force winds (displayed in figure 10). 

Figure 10. Hurricane Dorian September 1, 2019, Tropical-Storm-Force 
Wind Speed Probabilities 

 
Source: NHC Hurricane Dorian Graphics Archive (www.nhc.noaa.gov) 

Because this chance of tropical-storm-force winds was a non-zero percent probability of 
tropical-storm-force winds, it was inconsistent with NWS Birmingham’s September 1, 
2019, tweet stating that Alabama would not see “any” impacts from Hurricane Dorian. 
As Dr. Jacobs noted, however, this is “splitting hairs over a technicality that no one in 
the Birmingham office was actually really thinking about when their phone was ringing 
off the hook.” Further, “these forecast offices tweet stuff similar to this out all of the 
time, you know. I mean, as a scientist, I cringe a little bit on the technical aspect of it, 
but no one cares. They’re doing their job. They’re warning the public.” 
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In contrast, according to the Department version, no one objected to the line 
referencing the NWS Birmingham tweet. Specifically, Mr. Dewhirst, Mr. Walsh, the 
Department’s then-Press Secretary, the then-Deputy General Counsel for Special 
Projects, and Secretary Ross did not recall any objection to the line referencing the 
NWS Birmingham tweet.48 Rather, from the Department’s perspective, the very 
purpose of the statement was to correct or to 
clarify the NWS Birmingham tweet.49 
According to Mr. Dewhirst, “I think what we 
laid out is we looked back . . . and we looked 
at the timeline, and then we looked at the 
tweets. . . . And it appeared to everyone that 
the Alabama tweet was maybe a little over-
strident in its language. And you know, how 
were we going to address that.” He concluded 
that “the Birmingham office got that one 
wrong.” The Department’s then-Director of 
Policy, who was traveling with Secretary Ross 
and participated in one call about the Statement, opined that “the President wasn’t 
wrong, and Birmingham wasn’t wrong. They were ships passing in the night.” But the 
statement needed to “tilt” slightly against NWS Birmingham to counteract “the press 
folks” who have tilted the story “against the President.” “[I]n a perfectly neutral world . 
. . we never would have had to put that statement out.”  

Dr. Jacobs said that he suggested including language to focus on “what a great job the 
forecasters have done with the storm” to end the statement on “a good note.” But “all 
those ideas, you know, [of] ending on a good note were shot down.” He thought that 
his idea may have been overruled in the conference room, perhaps by Mr. Dewhirst. Dr. 
Jacobs noted that, even though he technically outranked Mr. Dewhirst, “I might have at 
the time thought he was conveying a message from the Secretary or Walsh.” But 
“[t]here was no logical reason for Birmingham to be called out independently and there 
didn’t seem to be a logical reason not to say great job, team.”  

The participants also disagree as to the level of the involvement of NWS and the NWS 
Birmingham office in the drafting of the Statement. The Deputy Secretary, who visited 
the conference room twice on September 6, said that she had wanted the Statement, 
after it was finalized, to be “run through career and political leadership” and that this 
was to be a “collaborative process.” She expected that the Statement would be 
provided to them “[t]o get their reaction, to get their buy-in, and so they know what’s 
going on, so you’ve got communication.” Mr. Walsh similarly thought that the “various 
NOAA constituencies” were comfortable with the Statement as drafted. Mr. Walsh 
recalled that, among other questions asked during the calls with the headquarters team, 
he and Secretary Ross inquired what the meteorologists in Birmingham would say about 

                                            
48 According to Ms. Roberts, if someone testified that no one objected to the line about the NWS Birmingham 
tweet, “[t]hey were lying, or they weren’t in the room.” 
49 The then-Deputy General Counsel for Special Projects, however, testified that he did not know what the 
purpose of the Statement was.  

“[T]he President wasn’t 
wrong, and Birmingham 
wasn’t wrong. They were 
ships passing in the night.” 
The Department’s then-Director of 
Policy, opining on the seemingly 
contradictory statements  
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the Statement as drafted. Secretary Ross also either assumed or understood that the 
Statement “went through the normal NOAA statement issuance process,” which 
Secretary Ross thought included going through NOAA’s Office of General Counsel. 
However, the Statement did not go through a review process within NOAA  and 
NOAA’s General Counsel, who told us he was out of the office on September 6, was 
never involved in the drafting, review, or issuance of the Statement.  

Dr. Jacobs and Ms. Roberts said that they were never asked to consult with these 
parties during the drafting process, and they did not voluntarily do so. A NOAA 
Communications employee contacted NWS Birmingham that morning, but only to 
clarify the timing of the September 1, 2019, social media posts. Dr. Jacobs stated that he 
raised the idea of contacting the head of NWS to give him notice of the Statement 
before it was issued. Shortly before the Statement was issued, Dr. Jacobs spoke with 
NOAA’s then-Chief of Staff, who recalled advising Dr. Jacobs during that call to give 
notice to the head of NWS about the issuance of the Statement. The head of NWS, 
however, was not given the opportunity to provide input on the Statement. The 
Birmingham MIC also confirmed that he “had no input whatsoever” into the Statement.  

In discussing the line in the Statement that rebuked NWS Birmingham, the office’s 
forecasters disagreed that their September 1 tweet was “inconsistent with probabilities 
from the best forecast products available at the time.” One forecaster said that, looking 
at NWS Birmingham’s actual forecast, “our grids and things like that,” the forecaster 
could tell from what the NHC had published that their central Alabama forecast area 
would not see any impacts from Hurricane Dorian. Another forecaster pointed out that 
NWS Birmingham was not “advertising any threat to Alabama” on September 1 in the 
“hazardous weather outlook,” a product that emergency managers and other decision 
makers use to plan ahead. This forecaster explained that the wind probability map for 
tropical-storm-force winds is not something they “advertise” or were basing the 
forecast on—and the state and local decision makers they had been briefing had already 
decided that they did not need any more briefings on Hurricane Dorian. The statement 
that Alabama would not be impacted was also consistent with the information that 
NWS Birmingham received during conference calls with the NHC. 

A third forecaster also explained that they have to use science and local knowledge 
when providing information to the public, and the forecasters knew that the 
probabilities for tropical-storm-force winds were going down over time.50 This 
forecaster elaborated that the tropical-storm-force wind probability map is not wrong, 
“but it’s just one snapshot in time,” which does not capture the trend. Trying to explain 
probabilities would make a tweet very long and “you just lose people,” but knowing the 
trend of the probabilities allowed the forecasters to communicate that Alabama would 
not be impacted by Hurricane Dorian. In addition, because the wind probability maps 
are created without human intervention, the maps display certain features that require 
trained forecasters to interpret them. For example, as this forecaster explained, the 

                                            
50 As a senior NOAA official said, meteorologists use the phrase “the trend is your friend.” Dr. Jacobs made a 
similar point, noting that the probability for Alabama having tropical-storm-force winds had decreased over the last 
several forecasts, and a forecaster could extrapolate out and assume that this trend would continue. 
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tropical-storm-force wind probability map from 8:00 a.m. EDT on September 1 showed 
that Cuba had the same chance of having tropical-storm-force winds as a small part of 
Alabama (see figure 10)—but, for Cuba to have experienced that, the storm would had 
to have turned and gone “due south” and “[t]here’s no way the storm is going to turn 
to the left” and hit Cuba. In addition, another forecaster described the graphic as 
artificially symmetrical when, in some cases, the eastern and western sides of a 
hurricane would not have the same chance of having tropical-storm-force winds. It is 
this analysis and understanding that forecasters provide to add value to forecasts and 
public safety messaging. 

Finally, to put the 5–10 percent probability of tropical-storm-force winds in perspective: 
one forecaster said that NWS Birmingham typically looks at about 30–40 percent 
probability when issuing a watch for a weather event and about 50–60 percent 
probability when issuing a warning for a weather event.  

F. Secretary Ross and Mr. Mulvaney Approved the Statement 

During a later call between the headquarters team and the Secretary’s travel team, 
someone in the conference room read the statement to Mr. Walsh, Secretary Ross, and 
the Department’s then-Director of Policy.51 During this call, the Secretary’s travel team 
offered comments and had questions about the draft52—and the wording was finalized. 
According to Mr. Walsh, as the head of the Department, Secretary Ross is “ultimately 
responsible for everything in the Department” and “does not do cursory reviews” 
before signing off on work products. In this instance, according to Mr. Walsh, the 
Secretary heard the text over the phone (that is, he did not have a written draft to 
review) and asked questions rather than cursorily approving the wording of the 
Statement. Secretary Ross recalled relying on Dr. Jacobs in his decision to approve the 
final wording of the Statement. In Secretary Ross’s recollection, Dr. Jacobs told him that, 
from the perspective of a meteorologist, “the statement is fine,” and so “as far as I was 
concerned, that ended [the discussion].” At this point, Secretary Ross said “let Mulvaney 
know that this is what we’re going to do.” 

Later that afternoon, shortly before or around 3:00 p.m. EDT, Mr. Walsh and Secretary 
Ross spoke with Mr. Mulvaney. In Mr. Walsh’s recollection, they told Mr. Mulvaney 
“that NOAA was prepared to issue a statement . . . explaining the situation,” and Mr. 
Mulvaney seemed “satisfied with the approach.” At 3:05 p.m. EDT, Mr. Walsh called Mr. 
Dewhirst, and Mr. Dewhirst emailed the text of the statement to Mr. Walsh at 3:11 
p.m. EDT. Shortly thereafter, Mr. Walsh forwarded the statement to Mr. Mulvaney, 
stating: “Per our discussion, please see the draft release below. We intend to issue at 
4:00pm. Please feel free to call with any questions. Thanks.”53 

At about 3:45 p.m. EDT, Dr. Jacobs texted Mr. Walsh, as illustrated in figure 11, to ask 
whether the White House was “ok with [the] statement as written.” Mr. Walsh 

                                            
51 Dr. Jacobs recalled that it was Mr. Dewhirst who read the statement aloud to the Secretary and his travel team. 
52 Participants did not remember the substance of those comments or questions. 
53 The email chain is attached as appendix J. 
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responded that he told them that the Department/NOAA was “launching” the 
statement at 4:00 p.m. EDT unless they heard otherwise from the White House. Shortly 
thereafter, Mr. Walsh texted Dr. Jacobs that “[h]e wants it out now . . . [c]an it get 
done[?]” “He” appears to refer to Secretary Ross as the person wanting the Statement 
out “now,” because Mr. Walsh texted that he had “negative consent” from Mr. 
Mulvaney and testified that he did not hear back in this instance from Mr. Mulvaney on 
the draft statement. This is consistent with testimony from Ms. Roberts stating that 
Secretary Ross wanted the Statement issued by the close of business.54 

Figure 11. Dr. Jacobs and Mr. Walsh Text Message Conversation 

 
Source: OIG-created graphic based on collected text messages (see appendix P)  

G. Were Jobs Threatened? 

Despite press accounts about possible threats to jobs, we did not receive any credible 
evidence that showed that Secretary Ross or anyone else directly threatened to fire Dr. 
Jacobs or any other Department or NOAA employee.55 Nonetheless, Dr. Jacobs, Ms. 
Roberts, and perhaps others involved in the drafting of the Statement, felt that jobs 
were on the line on September 6, 2019. When asked why he did not refuse to include 
the line about the NWS Birmingham tweet, Dr. Jacobs responded that he “definitely felt 

                                            
54 Department officials involved on September 6 either deny or do not remember any deadline for NOAA to issue 
the Statement. 
55 The only evidence that we received indicating that Secretary Ross threatened to fire Dr. Jacobs are 
contemporaneous notes that NOAA’s then-Chief of Staff reportedly took during a call with Dr. Jacobs in the early 
morning of September 7, 2019 (a call from approximately midnight until 2:00 a.m. EDT). In those notes, the then-
Chief of Staff wrote that Secretary Ross made that threat when he called Dr. Jacobs at 2:30 a.m. EDT. The then-
Chief of Staff since indicated that he is not sure that his initial understanding was accurate. Testimony is consistent 
that Dr. Jacobs did not speak to Secretary Ross at 2:30 a.m. EDT on September 6, 2019. 
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like our jobs were on the line.” Dr. Jacobs specifically stated that “nobody told me I was 
going to get fired.” However, he recalled having a conversation at least with Ms. 
Roberts, and possibly even Mr. Walsh, Mr. Dewhirst, and others, in which people 
agreed that “we could definitely lose our jobs over this if we don’t do what, you know, 
we’re told.” Dr. Jacobs felt that this pressure extended to all involved, not just himself. 
He explained that he got some of this sense from Mr. Walsh’s tone of voice, which he 
described as “pretty upset and pretty panicked.” Dr. Jacobs thought that Mr. Walsh was 
acting under a sense of “urgency of we got to get something out there,” and the Deputy 
Secretary’s then-Chief of Staff also described Mr. Walsh as having “an urgency” around 
getting the task completed. In addition, as described above, Ms. Roberts also recalled 
that Mr. Walsh told her that jobs could be on the line, a point that he disputes. 

Dr. Jacobs explained his decision-making thought process in the context of feeling this 
pressure. He summarized his options that day as (1) resigning, (2) refusing to allow 
NOAA to issue the Statement (and thus potentially being fired), or (3) revising the 
Statement to make it less inflammatory and more technically correct than the first 
version he was shown in the conference room. While Dr. Jacobs said he did not like the 
decision he had to make, he stood behind the third option as the least bad of his options 
and the best option for leading NOAA—and said he would make the same decision 
again. In Dr. Jacobs’s view, he could make the statement more accurate, but the 
Department would issue, or would cause NOAA to issue, a statement one way or 
another. If he resigned or were fired, he reasoned, the final statement likely would have 
been worse and more inflammatory. 

Departmental employees with whom we spoke rejected the notion that anyone’s job 
was on the line that day. Secretary Ross dismissed questions about any threats to fire 
Dr. Jacobs or other NOAA employees, and even whether jobs were on the line: 
“Working on a press release as a threat to someone’s job? That’s silly.” Secretary Ross 
ultimately answered “no” when asked if he had made any threats to anyone’s 
employment. Mr. Walsh was adamant that he did not suggest or mean to suggest that 
anyone’s jobs were on the line, saying he “absolutely” did not convey any potential 
negative consequences to anyone involved in the drafting of the Statement. Ms. Roberts 
also recalled that she thought Mr. Walsh sounded “normal” during the conference calls 
on September 6, and Mr. Walsh recalled that someone on the travel team commented 
that Mr. Walsh was “remarkably calm.” Others, including Mr. Dewhirst and the Deputy 
Secretary’s then-Chief of Staff, do not recall discussing the possibility that they or 
anyone could lose their jobs while the headquarters team met on September 6.  

The dismissal of the notion that jobs were on the line, however, may not entirely reflect 
the reality of the pressure that the group—and, in particular, Dr. Jacobs as the head of 
NOAA—faced that day. Dr. Jacobs pointed out, “we work at the pleasure of the 
President, right. I mean he could fire me for no reason, he doesn’t need a reason, but, 
you know, not doing what you are asked to do seems like a pretty reasonable reason to 
get fired.” Evidence shows that Mr. Mulvaney requested “a correction or an explanation 
or both,” for the NWS Birmingham tweet—and, as discussed above, Mr. Mulvaney was 
apparently not satisfied with the explanations provided to him, seemingly leaving the 
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Department the option of issuing a “correction.” The reality of the stress of those 
circumstances is perhaps best captured by a senior NOAA official describing his 
conversation with Dr. Jacobs on the afternoon of September 6, when Dr. Jacobs told 
him and others that any revision to the Statement would have to “go all the way up to 
the top of the White House.” The senior official said that, when Dr. Jacobs mentioned 
Mr. Mulvaney, the senior official grew extremely anxious. A career NOAA 
Communications employee also noted that, in a short visit to the conference room on 
September 6, “there was a lot of pressure in the room. I could just feel it.” While 
different individuals may have felt different degrees of pressure as this event unfolded on 
September 6, we find it credible that the drafting and issuance of the Statement was a 
pressurized event in light of the involvement of authorities outside of NOAA and the 
Department. Even if Secretary Ross or Mr. Walsh did not explicitly threaten jobs, it was 
reasonable under these circumstances for Dr. Jacobs, and possibly others, to infer that 
their jobs depended on compliance with a directive from the White House—particularly 
when the Department, reportedly through Mr. Dewhirst, insisted on the inclusion of the 
line in the Statement that criticized NWS Birmingham. 

H. NOAA’s Issuance of the Unsigned Statement 

When NOAA issued the Statement, it was not signed or attributed to any person at 
NOAA. Three NOAA Communications employees uniformly testified that it was 
unusual for NOAA to distribute an unsigned or unattributed statement. These 
employees described issuing either (a) statements attributed to a NOAA spokesperson 
or employee or (b) press releases that included “vetted” quotes. However, Ms. Roberts, 
as the Director of Communications, had refused to sign the Statement earlier that day, 
because she asserted that she had not written it and did not support it. The 
Department’s then-Press Secretary recalled Ms. Roberts’s refusal to sign the Statement, 
although others do not recall that conversation. He also recalled that Ms. Roberts 
objected to Dr. Jacobs signing the Statement. Ms. Roberts asserted that issuing an 
unsigned statement was not an uncommon practice56 and that a long-time NOAA 
Communications employee (her subordinate) did not push back on her decision. But 
one of her subordinates offered the opinion that “Julie’s name should have been on it 
because she’s the political from NOAA and . . . unfortunately sometimes the political 
people have to take the hit.” A senior NOAA official suggested that the Statement 
should have come from Dr. Jacobs because “he signed on to it.”  

After the final wording of the Statement had been approved, Dr. Jacobs contacted key 
NOAA officials to give them advance warning of the Statement. NOAA’s then-Chief of 
Staff and other senior officials pushed back against the Statement, but Dr. Jacobs told 
them that he had already softened the wording significantly and there was no choice but 

                                            
56 Ms. Roberts elaborated that “it’s not completely uncommon to speak off the record or on background to 
media,” practices that are not akin to NOAA’s issuance of the Statement on September 6, 2019. The only 
unattributed public NOAA statement that a NOAA Communications employee could identify was a March 30, 
2018, statement explaining why the broadcast of the SpaceX Iridium-5 launch from an onboard camera was shut 
down. This employee added that NOAA Communications contacts were handling media calls to explain what 
happened and that “the media was talking to a real person.” 
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for the Statement to be released. A senior NOAA official then called the NWS 
Birmingham office to give them their first notice of the Statement. 

Ms. Roberts tasked NOAA Communications employees with formatting and publicizing 
the Statement that afternoon. One career employee said that “there was no prescribed 
rollout plan, per se, it was just everything was very piecemeal.” According to this 
employee, public statements typically would have a rollout plan and would be “very 
organized,” although the rollout might be a little more piecemeal in an urgent situation. 

The NOAA Communications team (1) sent the Statement to a group of reporters, (2) 
posted the Statement on NOAA’s public website, and (3) tweeted an image of the 
Statement.57 The Statement was distributed to reporters at 4:45 p.m. EDT that day and 
was not tweeted until approximately an hour later. A NOAA Communications 
employee recalled that “the Twittersphere lit up” within 10 minutes of the distribution 
to reporters and posting of the Statement on the NOAA website—before the 
Statement had been tweeted—prompting that employee to inquire whether it was 
necessary for NOAA to push it out on Twitter, too. Ms. Roberts confirmed to the 
employee that the Department had said that the Statement needed to be put out on 
Twitter. Indeed, the Department’s then-Press Secretary wrote NOAA Communications 
employees at 5:38 p.m. EDT in an email with the subject line “Birmingham Tweet”: “I 
hate to be a pest given how much y’all have worked today, but do you know when the 
tweet will go out?” He wanted the Department to re-tweet the Statement to “amplif[y]” 
it. But, as a NOAA Communications employee commented, the Department telling 
NOAA to tweet the Statement “really just opened a can of worms . . . say[ing] to a half 
a million people here’s something really weird . . . and very uncharacteristic” of NOAA. 

III. Reaction and Backlash to the Statement 

Mr. Dewhirst described the Statement as an unremarkable statement on a “weedsy” issue, 
which was only viewed negatively due to “disingenuous” media coverage. But the actual 
reactions within NOAA and from the public show that Mr. Dewhirst’s characterization 
reflects a misunderstanding of the significance of NOAA issuing an unsigned public 
statement rebuking one of its own WFOs. 

A. NOAA and NWS Reaction 

The internal negative reaction against the Statement began almost immediately as 
NOAA employees learned that it would be issued. 

                                            
57 Mr. Walsh also sent an email to Mr. Mulvaney containing an image of the final statement at 5:01 p.m. EDT. (See 
appendix K.) 
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First, within the NOAA Communications group, 
career employees were critical of the Statement. 
One of the involved NOAA Communications 
employees felt “deflated” by working on the 
issuance of the Statement, stating that in 
numerous years of service with NOAA, “for the 
first time in [my career] I was ashamed of my 
Agency.” Another noted the negative impact the 
Statement would cause to their reputation 
because NOAA “spent years, you know, building 
our relationship with reporters and [we] have a 
good reputation and NOAA has a great reputation for scientific integrity and this was 
just not our usual work.” The employee noted “disappointment that Commerce didn’t 
protect Neil from that [bad situation].”  

Next, from a NOAA Communications perspective, the Statement did not make sense 
because it was backward-looking in the midst of an ongoing hurricane:  

[W]e have hurricane warnings along the Southeast Coast . . . we can’t 
talk about what did or didn’t occur a week ago, we need to be talking 
about what’s happening in the next three days. So, from an operational 
standpoint, … this ha[d] us keep looking back . . . we need to be talking 
about what the storm is going to be doing to Florida and the Southeast 
coming up, as opposed to what it didn’t do a week ago.  

In addition, even before the Statement was publicly issued, the internal reactions were 
negative. When Dr. Jacobs contacted key people at NOAA, including NOAA’s then-
Chief of Staff and senior career employees, to notify them of the forthcoming 
Statement, the immediate reactions included shock, disappointment, and attempts to 
talk Dr. Jacobs out of letting the Statement go forward, particularly with the line 
rebuking the NWS Birmingham office.58 After the Statement was issued, in an email to 
NOAA’s then-Deputy Chief of Staff for Policy, the then-Chief of Staff described the 
Statement as “really ugly” and commented that “[i]t’s pathetic and embarrassing to have 
a statement from a nameless spokesperson on the NOAA website.” The then-Deputy 
Chief of Staff for Policy had predicted in an email—sent to the then-Chief of Staff as 
soon as he saw the Statement—that the Statement would hurt NOAA’s credibility, 
cause some to question Dr. Jacobs’s scientific integrity, and make it harder for NOAA 
to negotiate a collective bargaining agreement with the NWS union. He also inquired 
whether Ms. Roberts had a “plan for managing the fallout and congressional oversight 
that [would] surely ensue.” 

Finally, the then-head of the NWS Employees Organization promptly tweeted, “I have 
never been so embarrassed by NOAA. What they did is just disgusting.”59 He also 

                                            
58 As one senior NOAA official recalled, Dr. Jacobs responded to these attempts by explaining that he could not 
change the Statement and any change “would have to go all the way up to the top of the White House.”   
59 Twitter Capital Weather Gang. BREAKING: NOAA Has Sided with President Trump, Rather Than Its Own Scientists 
[online]. 

“[F]or the first time in 
[my career] I was 
ashamed of my Agency.” 
NOAA Communications 
Employee, describing how they felt 
working on the issuance of the 
Statement  
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spoke out against the Statement in an interview with an online media outlet, describing 
NWS employees as “shocked, stunned and irate” and management as having “thrown 
them under the bus.”60 NWS employees, and employees throughout NOAA, also began 
speaking out against the Statement. 

B. NWS Birmingham 

As described in more detail in the MIC’s statement (see appendix N), NWS leadership 
contacted its Birmingham office to give notice of the forthcoming Statement and to 
reassure the forecasters that, from the perspective of NWS leadership, the Statement 
was not a negative reflection on their services. NWS Birmingham employees 
nonetheless had strong reactions to the Statement. During our interview, one employee 
said: 

I had gotten a text from a member of management . . . basically just saying, 
hey don’t let any of this get to you or whatever. . . . [O]ut at dinner that 
evening, I saw the statement and kind of broke down. . . . It was basically 
just the – the gist of them not having our back [that upset me]. . . . [I]t just 
hurt, I guess, personally and professionally that at that time what appeared 
to be, you know, our parent agency . . . not believing us and that it wasn’t 
related to the [President] Trump tweet . . . at one point I . . . started to 
kind of wonder about my job a little bit. . . . [I]t appears that . . . they 
were not siding with us … and it was kind of like . . . I-did-my-job-and-
now-I-could-be-in-trouble-for-doing-my-job kind of thing.  

Another forecaster first thought upon seeing the Statement were that they were “not 
being supported,” even though the forecaster knew that they were doing their jobs. 
This forecaster elaborated: “[T]here are so many things that you really don’t know are 
the truth anymore, it seems like these days. It’s very hard, and so at first I was like, is 
this for real? Is that the real deal kind of thing? . . . [A] lot of emotions hit you right 
when you first see something like that.” Upon seeing the reactions on the employees’ 
Facebook page, another recalled thinking “this is going to spiral out of control and I 
don’t know where this is going to end.” 

One NWS Birmingham forecaster was initially upset enough to briefly ask for 
reassignment from duties working in Operations. That forecaster has since returned to 
regular duties in Operations. 

Despite the distress engendered by the criticism of the September 1, 2019, tweet in the 
Statement, as described above, the NWS Birmingham forecasters stood behind their 
September 1 message that Alabama would not be impacted by Hurricane Dorian. 

                                            
https://twitter.com/formpres_nwseo/status/1170114019291783168?ref_src=twsrc%5Etfw%7Ctwcamp%5Etweetem
bed%7Ctwterm%5E1170114019291783168&ref_url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.thedailybeast.com%2Fnoaa-left-
federal-weather-workers-shocked-and-irate-by-backing-trump-union-head-says (accessed April 27, 2020). 
60 Connor, Tracy. September 7, 2019. “Federal Weather Workers ‘Shocked’ and ‘Irate’ by NOAA Backing Trump, 
Union Head Says.” The Daily Beast. Available online at https://www.thedailybeast.com/noaa-left-federal-weather-
workers-shocked-and-irate-by-backing-trump-union-head-says (accessed April 27, 2020).  
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C. Public Reaction 

In the first several days after the issuance of the Statement, Dr. Jacobs and Ms. Roberts 
received many hundreds of emails criticizing them and NOAA for issuing the 
Statement—often in crude, vulgar, or colorful terms. Dr. Jacobs, Ms. Roberts, and their 
families were also threatened, prompting additional security measures. The criticisms 
came from the meteorological and academic communities and the general public, with 
the most common theme being that NOAA should be ashamed of its action. In 
discussing the public reaction, Dr. Jacobs said that “I’ve always prided myself on being an 
objective scientist. You know, I’m not a politician or political. I’m just a scientist, and, 
you know, I don’t like to play political games, and I felt like I got sucked into that and I 
felt like I let the agency down because, you know, I let them get sucked into it.” He 
continued, “I felt like a failure, and so then I got all of these people emailing me telling 
me that.”  

The public also targeted other senior NOAA officials who were not involved with the 
Statement, and media reached out to WFO employees to speak about this matter—
including making calls to personal phones, sending messages to personal emails, and, in 
the case of NWS Birmingham, going to forecasters’ homes. The overwhelming contacts 
at the WFO level had serious operational and public safety implications: leaders at some 
WFOs had to turn off their mobile phones due to the number of calls—which, in turn, 
impacted their connections with emergency management contacts.  

IV. NOAA and Departmental Actions After the September 6, 2019, Statement 

NOAA leadership undertook several actions to address the agency’s employee morale and 
reassure the NWS workforce in particular. 

On the night of September 6, 2019, the NWS Director, Deputy Director, and Executive 
Council began working on an all-hands message to NWS personnel. The NWS Director 
recalled that, shortly after NOAA issued the Statement, he and other senior NWS officials 
looked at the employee Facebook page and saw that “[t]here was all kinds of stuff flying 
around.” They decided “then and there” that they would write an all-hands message and 
worked Friday night into Saturday to send the message on Saturday, September 7, 2019. 
The all-hands message, titled, “Our Appreciation for the NWS Performance for Dorian,” 
signed by the entire Executive Council, was sent at approximately 3:00 p.m. EDT on 
Saturday afternoon and complimented NWS employees’ “commitment and outstanding 
work.”61 Although the all-hands message did not expressly reference the Statement or 
NWS Birmingham, the message stated that “we continue to embrace and uphold the 
essential integrity of the entire forecast process as it was applied by ALL NWS offices to 
ensure public safety first and foremost.” NWS leadership sent the all-hands message 
without going to NOAA or the Department for approval. The Birmingham MIC contacted 
the NWS Director in response and expressed that the message “helps, and hopefully will 
reassure some out there that are reeling right now.”  

                                            
61 A copy of this message is attached as appendix L. 
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The NWS Director and Dr. Jacobs were previously scheduled to speak at the annual 
meeting of the National Weather Association (NWA) in Huntsville, AL, the following week. 
In his keynote address on Monday, September 9, 2019, the NWS Director addressed the 
NWS Birmingham tweet directly and commended the Birmingham WFO for “act[ing] 
quickly to reassure their partners, the media and the public—with strong language—that 
there was no threat.” He asked those present from the Birmingham WFO to stand to be 
recognized, and the Birmingham WFO received a standing ovation from their peers. 

Dr. Jacobs had been scheduled to speak on Tuesday, September 10, 2019. Throughout the 
weekend, senior NOAA officials, both career and political, encouraged Dr. Jacobs to go 
forward with giving remarks at the NWA annual meeting—with NOAA’s then-Chief of Staff 
saying that he and others were “adamant” that Dr. Jacobs go to the NWA meeting, and Dr. 
Jacobs also said he wanted to go to the meeting. He explained that he did not care whether 
people walked out of the room, because there were forecasters he had worked with his 
entire career in attendance and he felt he needed to talk to them. He decided to change 
what he originally planned to speak about so that he could address the Statement. The 
Department, following the Deputy Secretary’s lead, deferred to Dr. Jacobs on his decision 
to go forward with the speech and supported his decision to go to Alabama.  

At the annual meeting, Dr. Jacobs addressed the Statement by stating: “The purpose of the 
NOAA statement was to clarify the technical aspects of the potential impacts of Dorian. 
What it did not say, however, is that we understand and fully support the good intent of the 
Birmingham WFO, which was to calm fears in support of public safety.” Dr. Jacobs also 
stated that no one’s job “is under threat” and that he and the Department supported the 
weather service team. On a personal note, he remarked that the recent events had been 
hard for him but that he was the “same Neil” he had been “last Thursday” [September 5, 
2019]. Dr. Jacobs and others described his NWA speech as beneficial for him and for 
NOAA, and forecasters from NWS Birmingham also described the speeches from the 
NWS Director and Dr. Jacobs as events that helped them move forward. Dr. Jacobs also 
issued an all-hands message to NOAA on Friday, September 13, 2019. This message is 
attached as appendix M. 

Dr. Jacobs announced during his speech that he would visit as many local WFOs as possible 
and call the WFOs he was unable to visit. He visited numerous WFOs in the Southeast 
shortly thereafter, including the Birmingham WFO. During his visits, he wanted to make 
sure that NWS employees understood that their jobs were not on the line and to talk 
about lessons learned. 

The Deputy Secretary also recognized that the Statement created a “bad situation,” and she 
was concerned with how NOAA and the Department could heal and move forward. The 
Deputy Secretary went to NOAA offices in Silver Spring, MD, to meet with senior NOAA 
career staff several times. Senior officials at NOAA recognized the Deputy Secretary’s 
outreach, with one commenting “she’s the only one from the Department who’s done 
anything in this regard to try to make up for this after the fact.”   
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Conclusions 
I. The Department Led a Flawed Process That Discounted NOAA Participation 

We conclude that the drafting and issuance of the Statement was conducted through a 
Department-led process that had significant flaws and that the acting head of NOAA 
acquiesced in that Department-led process.62 Secretary Ross tasked Mr. Walsh with this 
process after Mr. Mulvaney was apparently not satisfied with Secretary Ross’s explanations 
that (a) Birmingham NWS may have been responding to questions from the public and (b) 
NOAA and NWS communicated with the NSC, not directly with the President. This raises 
concerns about the extent to which Secretary Ross attempted to push back against this 
request or prevent NOAA from acting on a request detrimental to its mission. Secretary 
Ross and Mr. Walsh initiated the process of responding to Mr. Mulvaney’s request and 
involved more people from the Department than from NOAA or NWS. Despite his 
authority to do so, Dr. Jacobs did not bring additional NOAA officials into the decision-
making with respect to how to respond to Mr. Mulvaney’s request or into the drafting 
process. The Department and NOAA participants did 
not follow a standardized clearance process for the final 
Statement and did not get buy-in from the affected 
NOAA and NWS constituencies. And, at a minimum, 
miscommunication or a lack of clarity surrounded the 
key issues of whether anyone’s job was at risk and 
whether NOAA constituencies were or should have 
been consulted before the wording of the Statement 
was finalized. 

More specifically, Mr. Walsh set into motion a process 
involving himself and multiple high-level Department 
political officials. Despite NOAA’s issuance of the 
Statement, most of the NOAA counterparts were not included or consulted beforehand.63 
NOAA’s then-Chief of Staff, then-Deputy Chief of Staff for Policy, and General Counsel had 
no opportunity to advise or influence the decision-making process or wording of the 
Statement. From the perspective of one senior career NOAA official, “this was a process 
fail where [the Department] didn’t trust [its] own political team” at NOAA.  

Mr. Walsh assembled the team of NOAA and Departmental officials to work on the task 
for Secretary Ross and the White House. Of the team he assembled, the most involved 
participants were Mr. Walsh, Dr. Jacobs, and Mr. Dewhirst. While Dr. Jacobs had the 
relevant substantive, scientific knowledge, senior officials on NOAA’s political team 
suggested that they should have been involved to advise him on how to navigate this 

                                            
62 As discussed above, NOAA is a bureau within the Department of Commerce. Dr. Jacobs, NOAA’s acting 
administrator, reports to the Department’s political leadership. 
63 As the then-NOAA Chief of Staff said afterwards: “I told the Deputy Secretary, I said, ‘your General Counsel 
was in that room, but NOAA’s General Counsel wasn’t in the room. Your Director of Policy was in the room, but 
not NOAA’s Director of Policy. Your Chief of Staff was in the room, but not the NOAA Chief of Staff.’” 

“[T]his was a process fail 
where [the Department] 
didn’t trust [its] own 
political team” at NOAA. 
Senior NOAA Official, opining on 
why NOAA leaders were not 
involved in the development of the 
Statement  
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situation. To our knowledge, Mr. Walsh and Mr. Dewhirst do not have formal training or 
work experience in meteorology or emergency communications. Nonetheless, they both 
said that they concluded that the NWS Birmingham tweet needed to be corrected. Mr. 
Dewhirst, who was described as someone who “tends to not be afraid to just blow things 
up,” took a leading role in drafting the Statement and, according to Ms. Roberts and one 
NOAA Communications employee, overruled an objection to the line that rebuked NWS 
Birmingham. 

It is not a best practice for Department lawyers who lack subject-matter expertise in 
meteorology or emergency communications to have such leading roles in the drafting and 
issuance of a NOAA statement and to overrule objections to the content of the Statement 
raised by Dr. Jacobs, Ms. Roberts, and two NOAA Communications employees. Mr. Walsh 
and Mr. Dewhirst did not exercise the appropriate judgment or have the appropriate 
science background to have leading roles in navigating these events on behalf of a science 
agency. It struck one senior career NOAA official as “a management foul” that more 
NOAA leadership was not involved. As this official said: “And this is a big deal. And you got 
– you can’t just dump this on us. You got to trust us and bring us into the conversation.” 
While Mr. Mulvaney issued a request for “a correction or an explanation or both,” the 
Department, and significantly Mr. Walsh and Mr. Dewhirst, bear responsibility for 
transforming what could be interpreted as an innocuous request for an explanation of the 
NWS Birmingham tweet into a request that required a publicly issued statement that 
rebuked NWS Birmingham. In the end, Mr. Walsh and Mr. Dewhirst were poorly equipped 
for formulating a response to the incoming request that also protected NOAA’s best 
interests. 

At Secretary Ross’s direction, Mr. Walsh ran the response process, and Mr. Walsh bears 
significant responsibility for the process and issuance of the Statement. As he testified, he 
did not “hand off” responsibility to anyone else at the Department and expected to be 
consulted on any major decisions. Dr. Jacobs also bears responsibility for not involving 
other senior NOAA officials earlier on September 6, 2019, when he had the authority to do 
so. He noted that, in retrospect, this is something he would have changed, but his thought 
process was in part apparently influenced by his view that the events of September 6 were 
Department-led. Dr. Jacobs did not include NOAA personnel (aside from Ms. Roberts) in 
the process, or assert NOAA’s control over what began as a Department-led process. But 
neither did Mr. Walsh verify that Dr. Jacobs had consulted all relevant NOAA personnel 
during the process—a necessary step to achieve the stated goal of getting full NOAA buy-in 
to the Statement. Ms. Roberts also bears some responsibility for failing to respect her chain 
of command and notify her direct supervisor, NOAA’s then-Chief of Staff, of what was 
occurring but rather advocated for his exclusion from the decision-making process.64 To 
her credit, Ms. Roberts sought brief input from two NOAA Communications employees, 
but the Statement ultimately did not take into account these employees’ objections. 

                                            
64 Ms. Roberts has stated that she did not intentionally exclude the NOAA leadership team. But she also said that 
she did not want to have to educate them on the issues, an explanation that is not entirely sound because none of 
the Department officials involved that day had had any prior involvement in the NWS Birmingham/Hurricane 
Dorian story and also needed to be educated. 
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On balance, Mr. Walsh tried to coordinate this project in a limited amount of time while he 
was traveling in Europe. These circumstances likely contributed to the flawed process that 
resulted in the Statement—but do not justify the flawed process or poor judgment. 

Mr. Walsh failed at one of the core responsibilities as a Chief of Staff: clear and effective 
coordination of a Departmental task. Miscommunication, or the distortion or lack of clarity 
of his instructions, surround both issues of whether jobs were at risk and whether NOAA 
constituencies were consulted about the Statement. 

First, as Mr. Walsh himself noted, “information gets distorted if it doesn’t . . . flow in a top-
down manner sometimes.” As described above, Mr. Walsh and Ms. Roberts recall 
significantly different conversations when they first spoke at approximately 2:30 a.m. EDT 
on September 6. Mr. Walsh’s reliance on Ms. Roberts to communicate with Dr. Jacobs after 
his call with her at approximately 2:30 a.m. EDT may have contributed to the pressure that 
Dr. Jacobs and Ms. Roberts felt on September 6, because Ms. Roberts recalled Mr. Walsh 
telling her that jobs were on the line. Phone records indicate that Mr. Walsh spoke briefly 
with Dr. Jacobs later that morning, but Ms. Roberts still had a role in conveying a message 
from Mr. Walsh to Dr. Jacobs. At a minimum, a lack of clarity or common understanding 
surrounds the issue of whether Dr. Jacobs’s and others’ jobs were on the line on 
September 6. Mr. Walsh denies that he communicated that jobs were on the line or 
intended to communicate that. Nonetheless, a pressurized process with a short deadline 
ensued after Secretary Ross tasked Mr. Walsh with this project. 

Second, Mr. Walsh also considered it important that “NOAA constituencies” found the 
Statement acceptable—and Secretary Ross and the Deputy Secretary also thought that 
those affected at NOAA, such as the head of NWS and NWS Birmingham, had been 
consulted on the Statement. As Mr. Walsh said, “the last thing anyone wanted was to put 
out a statement and then to have someone within the NOAA community raise their hand 
and say not true. . . . [T]hat does no one any good.” Nevertheless, people throughout the 
NOAA community strongly objected to the Statement. Mr. Walsh’s failure to ensure that 
appropriate stakeholders were consulted undermined the stated goal of ensuring that 
“NOAA constituencies” found the Statement acceptable. 

It is undisputed that the head of NWS and NWS Birmingham did not have an opportunity 
to provide input on the Statement. Either Mr. Walsh’s instructions or expectations were 
not clearly communicated to Dr. Jacobs and Ms. Roberts, or Mr. Walsh failed to ensure that 
these steps were taken before he contacted Mr. Mulvaney for approval of the approach and 
Statement wording. Secretary Ross and the Deputy Secretary appear to have understood 
that the Statement would follow NOAA’s normal review and clearance process before the 
issuance of the Statement, but this did not occur. We conclude that good governance 
required a more deliberate review and clearance process than what happened during these 
events. 

The Department—particularly Mr. Walsh and Mr. Dewhirst—did not take responsibility for 
these failings. Mr. Walsh and Mr. Dewhirst distanced themselves from the matter, with Mr. 
Dewhirst saying that the Statement was a “NOAA statement” and the language was 
“NOAA’s language.” Similarly, Mr. Walsh said that “I don’t put out statements on 
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hurricanes. . . . [T]his is a NOAA statement.” Conversely, we found both Mr. Walsh and 
Mr. Dewhirst to be key figures with significant, although not full, responsibility for this 
incident, with others following their lead. 

II. The Department Required NOAA to Issue a Statement That Did Not Further 
NOAA’s or NWS’s Interests 

With the release of the September 6, 2019, unattributed Statement, the Department and 
NOAA acted contrary to the apolitical mission of NWS. Department participants pointed 
to the importance of issuing accurate weather forecasts as an explanation for issuing the 
Statement. We conclude that this justification fails to acknowledge the underlying fact that 
the Statement was the end result of events triggered by an external demand placed on 
Secretary Ross—specifically, a request from the White House to, in Secretary Ross’s 
words, “close the gap” between President Trump’s statement and the NWS Birmingham 
tweet.  

Ultimately, NOAA issued a Statement that, from the perspective of one senior NOAA 
official, “hurt the Department and it hurt NOAA, it hurt the White House, it hurt the 
public, it hurt the science community.” And, specifically with respect to NWS, the line in 
the Statement that rebuked NWS Birmingham 
undercut NWS forecasters and created the 
possibility that forecasters would second-guess 
or delay their public safety tweets or 
warnings—an issue with life-and-death 
consequences, given the public safety role of 
NWS. In our interviews, the Department 
pointed to Dr. Jacobs’s input as NOAA’s 
blessing of the Statement. However, the 
Department’s reliance on that input, which 
arguably made the NWS Birmingham line 
scientifically accurate,65 ignores that Dr. Jacobs 
and other NOAA officials objected to the very 
inclusion of that line but were overruled. 

The Department, with its direct line of communication to Mr. Mulvaney, failed to ensure 
that NOAA, including Dr. Jacobs, was insulated from an external request. To the contrary, 
the Department required NOAA to respond in a manner that hurt NOAA’s and NWS’s 
reputation and morale. 

                                            
65 The NWS Birmingham line is referring to the last sentence of the NOAA statement, which stated “The 
Birmingham National Weather Service’s Sunday morning tweet spoke in absolute terms that were inconsistent 
with probabilities from the best forecast products available at the time.” 

“[The Statement] hurt the 
Department and it hurt 
NOAA, it hurt the White 
House, it hurt the public, it 
hurt the science community.” 
Senior NOAA Official, opining on 
impact of the Statement  
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III. The Department Failed to Account for the Public Safety Intent of the NWS 
Birmingham Tweet and the Distinction Between Physical Science and Social 
Science Messaging 

The Department justified the issuance of the Statement—and in particular the line calling 
out the NWS Birmingham tweet—as “technically” or “scientifically” correct and, further, 
necessary to correct the accuracy of a 5-day-old NWS Birmingham tweet. According to Mr. 
Walsh, the Statement was necessary to clarify the confusion “about the accuracy of the 
initial tweet.” He continued that “accuracy is important in weather forecasting; precision is 
important” and expressed concern “from a departmental perspective” that NWS 
Birmingham made a statement inconsistent “with the weather forecasts from NOAA.” Mr. 
Dewhirst similarly stated that “what we did discuss about public safety is that it’s very 
important that we put out accurate statements.”  

However, we find that this justification is not credible, as it was unnecessary to correct the 
accuracy of a 5-day-old tweet, taking into account all evidence and past practice with 
respect to correcting WFOs’ social media posts. For example, prior to an interview with us, 
a Birmingham NWS forecaster searched Twitter and Facebook to find all of the office’s 
social media posts about forecasts—and found that there had never been any second-
guessing or pushback on numerous such social media posts other than the Statement’s 
criticism of the September 1, 2019, tweet. 

Moreover, the Department—significantly, Mr. Walsh and Mr. Dewhirst—failed to fully 
understand and prioritize NOAA’s and NWS’s public safety role. As a part of NWS’s 
mission to protect life and property, NWS forecasters are tasked with communicating risk, 
or the lack thereof, in clear terms that the public and emergency management partners can 
understand. As a senior NOAA official explained as background information, forecasters 
who interact with emergency managers, such as those in NWS Birmingham, understand that 
emergency managers need “direct messaging” and that the public needs messaging designed 
for human reaction. As summarized by another senior NOAA official, 

[e]ven though at the time there was maybe a 5-percent chance that they 
could see . . . strong wind gusts in Alabama . . . that technically made 
[the line rebuking the NWS Birmingham tweet] accurate – that’s not 
how we communicate risk. There’s a difference in what we see as 
scientists and what we communicate and distill in the message. And that 
was, I think, at the heart of the problem.  

A senior NOAA official concurred: “And from a social science perspective, they tell you 
that once you’re ready to do one of these messages [to take action], like in a tornado 
emergency, there’s no probabilities involved. . . . It’s, ‘take action now.’” In this context, if 
people were asking whether parts of Alabama needed to evacuate due to Hurricane Dorian, 
it would not have made sense for NWS Birmingham to respond to those questions by 
providing the small probability that a sliver of Alabama might receive strong winds. A 
subject matter expert on emergency management communications with whom we 
consulted said that the NWS Birmingham tweet on September 1, 2019, responded to 
inquiries about Hurricane Dorian in the manner that would be expected. 



 

FINAL REPORT NO. OIG-20-032-I  47 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE   OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL 
 

In the case of the NWS Birmingham tweet, the call to action was that no action should be 
taken (for example, evacuating family from the Gulf Coast) because Hurricane Dorian 
would not hit Alabama. Nonetheless, in discussing the distinction between how scientific 
forecasts and public safety messages are worded, Mr. Walsh said that he had “a tough time 
buying into a world where the rules are different based on what NOAA is trying to 
communicate.” Thus, either ignoring or lacking an understanding of how social science 
research supports the absolute language of the NWS Birmingham tweet, the Department 
maintained a myopic focus on the tropical-storm-force wind probability maps to provide 
sufficient cover for, in its view, correcting the NWS Birmingham tweet. 

The clarity of risk messaging, rather than simply the communication of probabilities, could 
have life-and-death consequences, as could false beliefs about weather events in areas that 
might be impacted. The NWS Birmingham forecasters understood that dispelling rumors 
about weather forecasts is a part of their job.66 If the incorrect belief that Alabama was 
going to be hit harder than expected took hold, Alabama residents may have begun to take 
unnecessary protective actions under the impression that Alabama could be directly hit by a 
hurricane. For example, if people unnecessarily evacuate a region, that puts unnecessary 
stress on limited emergency management resources and potentially clogs roads and bridges 
in a way that could harm those populations that actually need to evacuate. An evacuation 
itself may create public safety issues. As an NWS Birmingham forecaster pointed out, when 
Houston made the call to evacuate for Hurricane Rita, “interstates got clogged” and 
“people panicked,” resulting in more deaths in Texas from the evacuation than from the 
actual hurricane, which ended up curving into Louisiana.  In addition, evacuations exact 
significant economic tolls on communities affected by the evacuation, for example, through 
the closure of businesses and loss of tourism. 

As described in the NWS Weather-Ready Nation Roadmap (see the Background section of 
this report), NWS has undertaken a “significant culture shift” to communicate in terms of 
societal impacts. The WRN Roadmap illustrates this shift with the following table: 

Table 1. Examples of Transformation 

Traditional NWS Forecast IDSS Forecast 

“60 percent chance of thunderstorms this 
afternoon” 

“Thunderstorms between 2:00 and 4:00 pm will likely 
cause 30–60 minute flight delays” 

“Thunderstorms will be in the response area this 
afternoon” 

“People in the immediate area should take shelter 
due to the possibility of lightning from 2:00 to 4:00 
pm” 

“Heavy snow with accumulations of 8 to 12 inches 
tonight” 

“I-80 will likely be impassable after midnight due to 
heavy snowfall” 

Source: NOAA NWS, April 2013. National Weather Service Weather-Ready Nation Roadmap, version 2.0. 
Washington, DC: NOAA NWS, pp. 6–7. 

                                            
66 Prior to their interview, a forecaster searched NWS Birmingham’s Facebook and Twitter accounts for the word 
“rumor” and found numerous social media posts where the office had dispelled rumors. 
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In phrasing the September 1 tweet to communicate impacts clearly to the public, NWS 
Birmingham acted appropriately and in accordance with goals set forth in the NWS’s WRN 
Roadmap. The NWS Birmingham tweet on September 1, 2019, was a public safety message 
sent quickly in reaction to incoming questions. This tweet also reflects NWS training and 
the goal of communicating in terms of societal impact. In this case, the important impact to 
convey was that Alabama was not at risk of being directly hit by Hurricane Dorian. The shift 
to impact-based communication and impact-based decision support services (IDSS) is 
intended to enable users to be able to take protective actions.  

The critical message to communicate to concerned Alabama residents on the morning of 
September 1 was that they did not need to take protective actions with respect to 
Hurricane Dorian. From this perspective, a “traditional” message, in which NWS 
Birmingham just disseminated the probability of tropical-storm-force winds without 
interpreting that information, would not convey the necessary information that Alabama 
residents needed to understand the likely impact and whether they needed to take 
protective actions—particularly in the face of a growing narrative that Alabama would be hit 
much harder than anticipated.  

We understand that NOAA is placing greater emphasis on researching this very issue—the 
social science of risk communications and how to message for human reaction—and this 
aspect of NOAA’s and NWS’s public safety role deserves greater attention and 
understanding, including understanding at the Departmental level. As one NOAA official 
summarized, “[t]he gray area of risk is what we should focus on [and] how you distill that 
information.” 

IV. One NOAA Employee Deleted Relevant Text Messages, and the Department’s 
Federal Records Guidance Is Outdated 

During her interview, Ms. Roberts said that she deleted from her government mobile phone 
the relevant text message chains from September 6, 2019. Although she replied in both 
chains, Ms. Roberts said that she did not read the messages and “immediately” deleted them 
from her phone when she woke up the morning of September 6 at roughly 7:00 a.m. EDT. 
She explained that she could not follow the messages because the people traveling were 
using travel mobile phones with numbers she did not recognize67—and recalled: “I couldn’t 
tell who was talking, and I was like, I’m never going to figure this [thread] out, it’s useless, 
so I just deleted it. Never even looked at it.” 

We found Ms. Roberts’s explanation unconvincing. First, Ms. Roberts participated in two of 
the text message threads, sending messages at about 3:14 a.m. EDT and 3:43 a.m. EDT. 
Second, the thread of messages involving five people included messages around 11:05 a.m. 
EDT and 2:56 p.m. EDT, so Ms. Roberts would have received some of these messages well 
after she woke up on the morning of September 6 at approximately 7:00 a.m. EDT. 
Additionally, Ms. Roberts also said that she deleted the texts from her work mobile phone 

                                            
67 For security reasons, the Department issues specialized mobile phones to employees to use during international 
travel. 
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on a regular basis and did not file text messages because “99 percent of the time you’re 
never going to need a text message.” 

While the Department preserved the data on the travel mobile phones used by the travel 
delegation on September 6 at our request, it is not clear that any text messages on those 
mobile phones would have otherwise been preserved because Department policy allows, 
and sometimes requires, travel mobile phones to be wiped after foreign travel.68 This raises 
the concern that the Department does not routinely preserve text messages on travel 
mobile phones that demonstrate decision-making or the conduct of government business.   

Despite our request for the production of text messages on September 7, 2019, Dr. Jacobs 
is one of only three parties who preserved and produced text messages.69 Of his own 
accord, he took screen shots of the text messages on his government mobile phone and 
emailed himself the images in order to preserve them—because he was concerned that the 
texts would be automatically deleted from his government phone as they were texts from 
people he did not have saved as contacts. The other parties who preserved and produced 
text messages were not involved in the drafting of the Statement. 

The handling of text messages in this matter has raised concerns about whether the 
Department and NOAA sufficiently preserve mobile phone messages that constitute federal 
records.70 Text messaging, as well as other sorts of mobile messaging, can play an 
increasingly significant role in federal agency communications, deliberations, and decision-
making. This is especially relevant when officials are attempting to coordinate from different 

                                            
68 See “Annex C-6: Safeguarding Information While on Foreign Travel” in DOC, June 2019. Information Technology 
Security Baseline Policy, version 1.0. Washington, DC: DOC [online]. 
https://connection.commerce.gov/sites/connection.commerce.gov/files/media/files/2019/final_doc_it_security_baseli
ne_policy_6.24.19.pdf (accessed June 8, 2020). Annex C-6 provides that, if there is evidence of malware or 
compromise of a foreign travel device, a forensic image is taken and maintained for 90 days and the device is 
wiped. In addition, operating units are allowed to implement processes for wiping foreign travel devices, even if 
malware is not detected. Although a forensic image is supposed to be maintained for 90 days, Annex C-6 does not 
address preservation of federal records beyond that 90-day period. In addition, this policy requires users of foreign 
travel devices to be warned about possible data loss when devices are wiped and re-imaged. 
69 At our request, the Department preserved the relevant travel mobile phones; however, for technical reasons, 
we were unable to recover fully the text messages on the travel phones. 
70 The term records is broadly defined to include “all recorded information, regardless of form or characteristics, 
made or received by a Federal agency under Federal law or in connection with the transaction of public business 
and preserved or appropriate for preservation by that agency or its legitimate successor as evidence of the 
organization, functions, policies, decisions, procedures, operations, or other activities of the United States 
Government or because of the informational value of data in them.” 44 U.S.C. § 3301. In addition, the Federal 
Records Act was amended in November 2014 and added a new definition for electronic messages at 44 U.S.C. § 
2911. The law states, “The term ‘electronic messages’ means electronic mail and other electronic messaging 
systems that are used for purposes of communicating between individuals.” Although this definition applies 
specifically to disclosure requirements for official business conducted using non-official electronic messaging 
accounts, it further supports the conclusion that text messages can constitute federal records. NARA guidance 
also makes clear that agencies must capture and manage electronic records, including text messages, in compliance 
with federal records management laws, regulations, and policies. See U.S. National Archives and Records 
Administration, July 29, 2015. Guidance on Managing Electronic Records, Bulletin 2015-02. Washington, DC: NARA 
[online]. https://www.archives.gov/records-mgmt/bulletins/2015/2015-02.html (accessed June 8, 2020).  
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time zones or even different countries. For example, Mr. Dewhirst testified that he 
generally communicated with Mr. Walsh by text message. 

The Department’s records management policies did not explicitly address mobile phone 
messaging, and many of the Department’s policies that should contain up-to-date 
information are too old to contemplate mobile phones or mobile phone messaging. The 
Department Administrative Orders (DAOs) on managing and preserving electronic records 
are at least 25 years old.71 We requested that the Department provide documents detailing 
how, and by whom, mobile phone record information is saved and retained in accordance 
with federal records retention requirements—as well as what training it provides to 
employees regarding how to save text messages or other mobile phone messages 
constituting federal records. The Department provided a single document in response to 
this set of requests, but no materials that were substantively relevant to these issues.72 

In 2017, U.S. National Archives and Records Administration (NARA) assessed the 
Department’s Records Management Program.73 NARA stated several findings on the state 
of the Department’s records management policies, including 

• the Department is working under outdated directives and policy; 

• the Department’s electronic records management policy is outdated, and the draft 
to replace it is incomplete; 

• the Department’s methods for making records management information available to 
all staff are ineffective; and 

• the Department’s information technology strategic plan does not incorporate 
records management. 

Despite receiving these findings more than 2 years ago, the Department has not responded 
adequately. Notably here, the Department has not demonstrated that it has in place 
procedures to prevent federal records from being destroyed or deleted from mobile 
phones. Moreover, it appears that federal records may have been destroyed—although we 
leave to the Department and NOAA, in coordination with NARA, to determine whether 
(1) any text messages were federal records and (2) the text messages were federal records 
that should have been retained or were transitory records appropriate for destruction. 
NOAA has more recent policies concerning records management that include links to 

                                            
71 Department Administrative Orders “document and mandate continuing policies, standards requirements, and 
procedures prescribed by the Office of the Secretary for Department-wide application or for application to two or 
more major program areas of the Department.” See http://www.osec.doc.gov/opog/dmp/daos.html (accessed April 
27, 2020). The cited DAOs—DAOs 205-1, Records Management; 205-3, Removal of Records and Other Documents; 
and 205-16, Managing Electronic Records, dating from 1992, 1978, and 1987, respectively—are the Department’s 
relevant policies on these records issues. 
72 Our requests are attached as appendix O. In response, the Department provided copy of the Final DOC IT 
Security Baseline Policy, “which specifies enterprise IT security and privacy requirements to meet the minimum legal 
and federal mandates for information security.” 
73 National Archives Office of the Chief Records Officer, June 14, 2017. Department Of Commerce Records 
Management Program: Records Management Inspection Report. Washington, DC: NARA. Available online at 
https://www.archives.gov/files/records-mgmt/pdf/doc-inspection.pdf (accessed April 27, 2020). 
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NARA guidance stating that text messaging can be considered federal records.74 However, 
it is not clear that NOAA employees are any more diligent in preserving mobile phone 
messaging that may constitute federal records, as demonstrated by Ms. Roberts’s deletion 
of text messages. 

We are concerned that mobile phone messages that may constitute federal records were 
destroyed prior to our September 7, 2019, document request and preservation notice—
and that additional mobile phone messages that may constitute federal records would have 
been destroyed without proper authorization had we not issued our September 7 
memorandum. In addition, we are concerned that the possible destruction of federal 
records in the form of mobile phone messaging may be a more systematic problem that 
extends beyond this matter. It does not appear that the Department is providing adequate 
training on employees’ responsibilities with respect to the preservation of all electronic 
records, including text or mobile phone messages. 

  

                                            
74 NOAA Office of the Chief Administrative Officer, January 19. 2010. NOAA Records Management Program, 
NAO 205-1. Washington, DC: NOAA, available online at 
https://www.corporateservices.noaa.gov/ames/administrative_orders/chapter_205/205-1.html (accessed April 27, 
2020); see also, NARA, “Documenting Your Public Service” (Last reviewed by NARA, Oct. 24, 2019), available 
online at https://www.archives.gov/records-mgmt/publications/documenting-your-public-service.html (accessed 
April 27, 2020). 
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Final Observations 
At the conclusion of our fieldwork, NOAA employees said that they did not think that NOAA 
will be permanently damaged by the issuance of the Statement. Although NOAA’s credibility 
and employees’ morale took a serious hit, NOAA employees expressed their readiness to 
move forward. As one NWS Birmingham forecaster stated: 

I think at this point we’re ready to move forward. . . . I think that’s the 
biggest thing, so we can get back to our jobs, protection of life and 
property. That’s what we love doing. I know this is my dream job, and so I 
love doing it every single day. And when stuff prevents me from doing that, 
and focusing on that, it really bothers me a lot.  

Despite employees’ readiness to move forward, we pursued this work because the 
Department’s and NOAA’s actions, in the words of one senior NOAA official, “hit at the core” 
of NOAA. The Statement undercut the NWS’s forecasts and potentially undercut public trust 
in NOAA’s and the NWS’s science and the apolitical nature of that science. By requiring 
NOAA to issue an unattributed statement related to a then-5-day-old tweet, while an active 
hurricane continued to exist off the east coast of the United States, the Department displayed 
poor judgment in exercising its authority over NOAA.  

The attention generated by the Statement cost NOAA and NWS the opportunity to highlight 
what Dr. Jacobs suggested should have been an important success story that week: that 
NOAA’s weather forecasting model correctly predicted the path of Hurricane Dorian and 
proved more accurate than the European model. As stated in an email that Dr. Jacobs sent on 
September 6, 2019, preliminary statistics showed a “[v]ery good forecast for a tricky storm that 
stalled.” (See appendix I.) In the end, this apparent success story of the important science-based 
accomplishment was overshadowed by actions the Department set in motion in response to an 
external demand.75 

Instead of focusing on NOAA’s successful hurricane forecast, the Department unnecessarily 
rebuked NWS forecasters for issuing a public safety message about Hurricane Dorian in 
response to public inquiries—that is, for doing their jobs. Interviews with four NWS 
Birmingham forecasters, NWS leadership, and NOAA leadership demonstrated their 
commitment to NWS’s mission “to protect life and property.” This apolitical public service—
and ability to further the mission of NWS—should be supported, not undermined. 

  

                                            
75 We did not assess the accuracy of NOAA’s weather model forecast for Hurricane Dorian. 
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Appendix A: Objective, Scope, and 
Methodology 
Our objective was to examine the circumstances surrounding the Statement, providing an 
independent account of the events that transpired in the interest of transparency and good 
government. Through the course of our work, we focused on a review of electronic records 
and interviews with identified persons of interest. 

The scope of this work included any persons, entities, or evidence of the Department’s Office 
of the Secretary or NOAA determined to be connected in any way to tweets, Facebook posts, 
press releases, or statements of any kind related to Hurricane Dorian.  

To meet our objective, we conducted multiple interviews of Department and NOAA 
employees, including senior officials under oath. We also reviewed extensive documentary 
evidence to include the following:  

• Records and communications, including email and text messages, discussing, referring to, 
or in any way relating to or involving the circumstances and events leading to or 
surrounding NOAA’s issuance of the September 6, 2019, statement regarding Hurricane 
Dorian (the Statement) 

• The Department’s account of all calls, meetings, and other oral communications 
regarding or discussing the Statement, including the names and titles of participants, the 
dates and times of such communications, and any records documenting such calls, 
meetings, or other oral communications, including but not limited to call logs and 
calendars  

• Telephone records for certain persons of interest 

• Documents discussing or in any manner addressing the applicability of any law, rule, 
regulation, policy, directive, or other authoritative NOAA document, including the 
Scientific Integrity Policy, to the Statement  

• Communications between the NWS Birmingham office and NWS or NOAA and/or 
Departmental leadership, made on or after September 1, 2019  

• Departmental and NOAA directives, policies, and procedures related to records 
management 

• Departmental communication directives 

• The NARA Records Management Inspection Report of the Department of Commerce 
Records Management Program (June 14, 2017) 

• NARA’s “Documenting Your Public Service” 

• The Department Travel Policy Handbook 

• Department Information Technology Security Baseline Policy 

• NOAA Scientific Integrity Policy 
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• The NWS Weather-Ready Nation Roadmap 

• NWS Messaging Guidance and Training 

• NWS Service Description Document Impact-Based Decision Support Services for NWS 
Core Partners 

• NOAA-archived Hurricane Dorian forecast products and graphics  

• Relevant tweets, Facebook posts, and official statements from the Department and 
NOAA 

• Interview transcripts from interviews conducted in NOAA’s scientific integrity inquiry 
with persons of interest 

We reviewed these materials to assist in identifying persons of interest and to construct a 
timeline of events. We conducted a total of 32 interviews with 26 persons of interest, which 
included the Secretary, Deputy Secretary, and others from the Office of the Secretary; the 
Assistant Secretary of Commerce for Environmental Observation and Prediction, performing 
the duties of Under Secretary of Commerce for Oceans and Atmosphere; other NOAA 
officials; staff from NWS Birmingham; and two subject-matter experts, one on weather 
forecasting and emergency management communications and one on the social science of 
emergency management communications. 

Although we could not independently verify the reliability of all the information we collected, 
especially that of unreconciled testimonies, we compared it with other available supporting 
evidence to determine consistency and reasonableness. Based on these efforts, we believe the 
information we obtained is sufficiently reliable for this report. 

We conducted our work from September 2019 through January 2020 under the authority of 
the Inspector General Act of 1978, as amended (5 U.S.C. App.), and Department Organization 
Order 10-13, dated April 26, 2013. We performed our fieldwork at Department of Commerce 
headquarters in Washington, DC, and NOAA offices in Silver Spring, MD, and Calera, AL. 

We conducted our work in accordance with the Council of the Inspectors General on Integrity and 
Efficiency Quality Standards for Inspection and Evaluation. Those standards require that the work 
be adequately planned and that evidence supporting findings and conclusions be sufficient, 
competent, and relevant and should lead a reasonable person to sustain the findings and 
conclusions. We believe that our work and the evidence obtained meets those standards.   
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Appendix B: Related Congressional 
Correspondence 
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Appendix C: Ms. Roberts Email to Dr. Jacobs—
Alabama Comment Explanation 
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Appendix D: Ms. Roberts Email to Dr. Jacobs—
Tropical-Storm-Force Winds Graphic 
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Appendix E: Dr. Jacobs Email to NSC 
Contact—Tropical-Storm-Force Winds 
Graphic 
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Appendix F: Dr. Jacobs Email to NSC 
Contact—Offering Assistance 
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Appendix G: Mr. Mulvaney Email to Secretary 
Ross—Requested Correction or Explanation 
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Appendix H: Ms. Roberts Email to Mr. Walsh—
Chronology of Events 
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Appendix I: Dr. Jacobs Email to Department 
Deputy Secretary—Good Dorian Forecast 
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Appendix J: Mr. Walsh Email to Mr. Mulvaney—
Statement Final Wording 

 



 

80  FINAL REPORT NO. OIG-20-032-I 

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE   OFFICE OF INSPECTOR GENERAL 
 

Appendix K: Mr. Walsh Email to Mr. Mulvaney 
—Issued Statement 
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Appendix L: NWS Head All-Hands Email 
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Appendix M: Dr. Jacobs All-Hands Email 
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Appendix N: NWS Birmingham MIC Statement 
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Appendix O: OIG Request for Record 
Retention-Related Documents 
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Appendix P: Text Message Threads 
Mr. Walsh, Dr. Jacobs, and Ms. Roberts Text Thread 
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Mr. Walsh, Dr. Jacobs, Ms. Roberts, and Others Text Thread 
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Note: The image provided by Dr. Jacobs in this text thread was recreated by OIG due to 
cropping. 
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Note: The images provided by Dr. Jacobs in this text thread were recreated by OIG due 
to cropping. 
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Note: The image provided by Dr. Jacobs in this text thread was recreated by OIG due to 
cropping. 
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Note: The image provided by Dr. Jacobs in this text thread was recreated by OIG due to 
cropping. 
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Note: The image provided by Dr. Jacobs in this text thread was recreated by OIG due to 
cropping. 
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Mr. Walsh and Dr. Jacobs Text Thread 
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Appendix Q: Responses 
Letter to the Inspector General from the Acting Deputy General Counsel for the 
Office of Special Projects, Office of the General Counsel (June 29, 2020) 
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Response to the Inspector General’s Report from the Department’s Chief of Staff 
and Acting General Counsel (June 29, 2020) 
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